Infection and disinfection of transmucosal implant surfaces *in vitro*

Inauguraldissertation

zur

Erlangung der Würde eines Doktors der Philosophie vorgelegt der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Basel

> von Monika Astašov-Frauenhoffer aus Tallinn, Estland

> > Basel, 2013

Genehmigt von der Medizinischen Fakultät auf Antrag von

Prof. Dr. Tuomas Waltimo Fakultätsverantwortlicher

Prof. Dr. Tuomas Waltimo & Prof. Dr. Roland Weiger *Dissertationsleiter*

Prof. Dr. Bert Müller Korreferent

Dr. Thomas Thurnheer Externer Experte

Basel, den 7. Mai 2013

Prof. Dr. med Christoph Beglinger Dekan

Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
ABSTRACT	5
1 INTRODUCTION	8
2 STUDY AIMS	19
3 HYPOTHESES	20
4 QUANTIFICATION OF VITAL ADHERENT <i>STREPTOCOCCUS SANGUINIS</i> CELLS ON PROTEIN-COATED TITANIUM AFTER DISINFECTANT TREATMENT	21
5 ISOTHERMAL MICROCALORIMETRY PROVIDES NEW INSIGHTS INTO BIOFILM VARIABILITY AND DYNAMICS	29
6 MICROCALORIMETRIC DETERMINATION OF THE EFFECTS OF AMOXICILLIN, METRONIDAZOLE AND THEIR COMBINATION ON AN <i>IN VITRO</i> BIOFILM	
7 DISCUSSION	63
8 CONCLUSIONS	70
CURRICULUM VITAE	84

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank professors Tuomas Waltimo and Roland Weiger for this opportunity to do my thesis in the Department of Dentistry here in Basel, for their guidance and supervision that have taught me a lot about scientific life and have managed to constantly fascinate me more and more about oral microbiology.

I am thankful to everyone in the lab – Irene, Elisabeth, Eva – they were always there for me to answer my questions or help me out with the experiments. And Imi, who has helped me enormously over the last years with everything I can think of, with experiments, writing, planning projects, with finding a flat near to work! Of course, I am also happy for the coffee breaks and nice discussions with Patricia, Caroline, Adrian and Roman that have cheered up every stressful day in the lab!

I am grateful to the people in the Laboratory of Biomechanics and Biocalorimetry, who have supported my microcalorimetric experiments. Especially, Prof. Dan Daniels and Dr. Olivier Braissant who has invested a lot of time in discussions so that I finally understand the method and that I can perform calculations of the parameters from those endless curves!

I thank Prof. Rudolf Gmür and Helga Lüthi-Schaller from University of Zurich for teaching me RNA labeling and Evi Bieler and Markus Dürrenberger from Microscopy Centre, the University of Basel for all their assistance in scanning endless amounts of biofilms.

Last but not least, all the friends and family who have always been behind me in everything I have decided to do. Even when it meant moving far away and not always having much time for them! My mom who always listens and gives the best advice that keeps me motivated to go on! And my husband... who has been the most understanding and supportive person throughout all this time!

Abstract

Peri-implantitis is an inflammatory process, which is initiated by a biofilm-induced pathway causing a reversible inflammatory reaction in the soft tissues surrounding the implant; however, it may progress into irreversible damage in the surrounding alveolar bone and result in loss of attachment. Modelling any kind of oral biofilm is challenging as up to 700 species have been identified on various surfaces within the mouth. Thus, also data on bacterial colonization and biofilm formation on dental implant surfaces is limited and mostly based on identification of species. However, knowledge about this process, in particular in its early stages, is essential for the development of strategies to prevent and control microbial adherence and biofilm formation.

The aims of this study were (i) to develop and validate a flow chamber model to assess peri-implantitis related multispecies biofilm formation; (ii) to test antimicrobial susceptibility of this biofilm; (iii) to evaluate the reliability of commonly used methods and novel isothermal microcalorimetry (IMC) analyses for vitality testing of adherent microorganisms *in vitro*.

An *in vitro* flow chamber model was developed to study single- and multispecies adhesion to protein-coated surface in reduced nutrient conditions that mimic the clinical situation of peri-implant disease.

Adherent single-species model with *S. sanguinis* was used for antimicrobial susceptibility testing (Original study 1 in Chapter 4) to answer two questions: firstly, how efficient is disinfectant treatment and secondly, to identify discrepancies between the results revealed by different vitality detection methods (commonly applied: staining by Live/dead Baclight kit, conventional culturing; and a novel approach by IMC). Chlorhexidine has been considered for many years the standard in oral infection control, however, the three other disinfectants (povidone-iodine, octenidine dihydrochloride, polyhexanide) showed comparable efficacy against the adherent microorganism. The interpretation of the results of staining and traditional culturing is difficult as major discrepancies were present. The disagreement between the results of the methods can be attributed to different aspects: (i) staining is based on the destruction or integrity of the cell wall; (ii) conventional culturing requires bacteria to be re-suspended prior to cultivation and subsequent quantification of colony-forming units. However, several factors – such as physical damage to the cells by re-suspension or lack of growth due to suboptimal culture conditions – may cause false

negative results; (iii) the population of cells that are viable but not cultivable (VBNC), but are still present by staining and microscopy.

The IMC is a very sensitive method, which detects heat-flow from all metabolic processes in any living microorganism. The principle of the method is that all living systems produce heat and heat release can be measured calorimetrically without any interference with the processes. In other words, IMC measures heat production or consumption, which is proportional to the rate at which any given chemical, physical or biological process is taking place (i.e., metabolic heat from bacterial growth). Our results on adherent disinfectant-treated *S. sanguinis* indicate that IMC is a useful tool to avoid the problem with VBNC cells and provides a novel approach in oral microbiology that detects reliably all the cells that are able to resuscitate after disinfectant treatment and thereby may lead to the expression of virulence factors in the colonized sites.

In order to study antimicrobial efficacy on a more complex system, a 72-hour biofilm model including *S. sanguinis*, *F. nucelatum* and *P. gingivalis* was created (Original study 2 in Chapter 5). After 72 h, the three species were always detected with similar proportions throughout experiments by microscopic methods. Even, when such stability in the proportions and structure was found, the metabolic activity of biofilms in IMC revealed high heterogeneity. Thus, this heterogeneity suggests that bacteria appear to have intra-species variance affecting their behaviour in biofilms, which is dependent on different factors that are hitherto not well understood.

IMC analysis of the behaviour of the three-species biofilm provided a novel opportunity to observe how an intact biofilm acts as an entity when exposed to antibiotics (Original study 3 in Chapter 6). The clinical efficacy of adjuvant antibiotic therapy in the periimplantitis treatment is unclear; in order to gain better understanding the most frequently used antibiotics: amoxicillin, metronidazole and their combination were tested. Additionally, in order to obtain comparable data to the previously published information (Chapter 4), the vitality of adherent single-species of *S. sanguinis* and *P. gingivalis* after antibiotic treatment was assessed by vitality staining, conventional culturing and IMC. The results of staining and culturing correlated poorly. This can be due to reasons mentioned earlier, such as limitations of the methods and VBNC cells, but can also be due to the bacteriostatic effects of antibiotics that cannot be reliably detected by staining. Although amoxicillin and metronidazole are considered bactericidal, IMC results suggest that when applied alone, the antibiotics seem to work primarily through bacteriostatic effects; when combined, the efficacy is increased by their synergistic bactericidal action. Furthermore, this indicates that it might not be possible to strictly divide the effects of antibiotics into bacteriostatic and bactericidal, as the results here imply that the effect seems to be dependent on their concentration and combination plus the nature of targeted cells.

In conclusion, this study emphasises the need to critically evaluate the results of live/dead staining and conventional culturing as many aspects can affect the outcome of these methods leading to miscalculations on the proportion of cells that are able to resuscitate and express virulence factors on treated sites.

Thus, as a novel alternative in oral biofilm research IMC gives new insights helping to monitor the efficacy and dynamics of biofilms and their antimicrobial susceptibility *in vitro*.

1 Introduction

Peri-implantitis

Peri-implantitis is an inflammatory process, which affects the soft and hard tissues around an implant and results in loss of attachment (Albrektsson & Isidor, 1993, Mombelli & Décaillet, 2011). Its prevalence appears to be rapidly and constantly increasing due to the use of dental implants, thus efficient prevention and control strategies are of the highest importance (Persson, *et al.*, 2006).

The etiology and pathogenesis of peri-implantitis is comparable to those of periodontal diseases with a biofilm-induced pathway causing initially reversible inflammatory reaction (mucositis) in the surrounding soft tissues, which may progress into usually irreversible damage in the surrounding alveolar bone. Mucositis appears in 80% of the patients and in 50% of the implants, while peri-implantitis is observed in 28-56% of the patients, and in 12-43% of the implants (Zitzmann & Berglundh, 2008). However, also mechanical stress caused by occusal or lateral overloading may initiate a formation of microfractures that trigger a cascade of reactions in the close peri-implant proximity (Mombelli & Lang, 1998, Quirynen, et al., 2003). Implant failures that occur in the early phase after installation are related to an absence of osseointegration due to host-associated reactions such as wound infection or initial overload. So-called late failures are observed after the first year in function and affect an initially successful osseo-integrated implant. Biomechanical reasons with overload are responsible for a sudden mobility and subsequent implant loss, while peri-implantitis entails an inflammatory process affecting the peri-implant bone in the marginal region leading to the loss of osseo-integration and to clinical failure.

Biofilms associated with peri-implantitis

Bacteria frequently live in heterogenic well-established communities, commonly called biofilms, which are attached to surfaces. Biofilm can be defined as a sessile community of cells irreversibly attached to substratum embedded in an extracellular polysaccharide matrix that they have produced (Costerton, *et al.*, 2005, Mombelli & Décaillet, 2011). Biofilm formation includes distinct stages. First, an acquired pellicle is formed followed by reversible adhesion involving weak long-range physiochemical interactions between bacterial cell surface and pellicle, which can lead to stronger adhesin-receptor mediated

attachment. These early colonizers grow and modify the environment to make it suitable for more fastidious bacteria that are often obligatory anaerobes. Thus, the biofilm grows and co-adhesion of secondary colonizers to already attached cells takes place (Kolenbrander, *et al.*, 2000). Attached organisms synthesize exopolysaccharides (i.e., glucans) that form a matrix, which acts as a scaffold for the biofilm, is biologically active and able to retain water, nutrients and enzymes (Marsh, 2006). The advantages for bacteria bound to biofilm over their planktonic counterparts include increased metabolic efficiency, substrate accessibility, enhanced resistance to environmental stress and inhibitors/antimicrobials, and an increased ability to cause infection and disease (Percival, *et al.*, 2012).

Once established, biofilms are difficult to remove or eradicate completely. In this environment, the microbial cells exhibit a different phenotype than their planktonic counterparts, particularly relating to decreased growth rate and altered gene transcription (Marsh, et al., 2011). The gene expression patterns have been studied mostly on *Streptococcus* species that predominate in supragingival plaque, but similar principles can also be applied to subgingival organisms (Li & Burne, 2001, Svensäter, et al., 2001, Welin, et al., 2004). During the first 2 h of streptococcal attachment 33 proteins were found expressed differently - 25 proteins were up- and 8 down-regulated (Welin, et al., 2004). Moreover, novel proteins of yet unknown functions were detected by biofilms that were not present in planktonic cells (Li & Burne, 2001). Also, genes involved in growth and biosynthesis of cofactors are down-regulated while transport and binding proteins are up-regulated (Lo, et al., 2009). However, during plaque formation, bacteria not only bind to host proteins, but also co-aggregate with other organisms. Exposing Streptococcus gordonii to saliva induces genes encoding adhesins that promote binding to salivary glycoproteins and co-aggregation with Actinomyces species (Dû & Kolenbrander, 2000). Differential expression of proteins by *Porphyromonas gingivalis* that leads to community development was observed when S. gordonii and Fusobacterium nucelatum were present (Kuboniwa, et al., 2009). Additionally, small diffusible molecules are expressed that facilitate quorum sensing throughout the biofilm and enable bacteria to act as a complex multicellular entity (Kolenbrander, et al., 2002, Suntharalingam & Cvitkovitch, 2005).

A mature biofilm contains bacteria that live in their own heterogeneous (micro)environmental niches. The metabolic activities of the cells together with diffusion processes result in concentration gradients of oxygen and nutrients, signalling compounds

and bacterial waste within biofilms. As bacteria respond to these gradients and to changing local chemical conditions, biofilms can be exhibit considerable structural, chemical and biological heterogeneity. Thus, cells found in biofilms can be not only physiologically different from planktonic cells, but also differ from each other as the biofilm development proceeds (Stewart & Franklin, 2008, Marsh, *et al.*, 2011).

The heterogeneity, down-regulation of growth related genes and the matrix of exopolysaccharides that covers the cells is generally thought to explain the increased tolerance to antimicrobial agents. For example, 10 - 50 times higher concentrations of chlorhexidine are needed to eliminate *Streptococcus sanguinis* in biofilms compared to their planktonic counterparts (Larsen & Fiehn, 1996), however in case of *Streptococcus sobrinus* it can be up to 300 times higher (Shani, *et al.*, 2000). Biofilms of several species have also shown to be more tolerant to antibiotics (e.g. amoxicillin, minocycline and metronidazole), although the susceptibility differs between the species (Larsen, 2002, Socransky & Haffajee, 2002, Takahashi, *et al.*, 2007). Additionally, confocal microscopy studies demonstrate that only outer layers of biofilms are affected by antimicrobials, suggesting either quenching of the agent at the biofilm surface or lack of penetration into the deeper layers (Zaura-Arite, *et al.*, 2001).

The knowledge of mechanisms of bacterial adhesion might provide a tool to control or influence biofilm formation; however, in strategies like blocking adhesin-receptors thereby eliminating attachment or co-adhesion the bacterial cells have shown the ability to express multiple types of adhesins that are invoked when major receptor is blocked (Hasty, *et al.*, 1992, Zhang, *et al.*, 2005). Additionally, although adhesion is necessary for colonization, the final proportions of a species within a mixed culture biofilm are dependent on the ability of the organisms to grow, outcompete neighbouring cells and adapt to local conditions within the biofilm (Marsh, 2006).

Oral microbiota that adhere and accumulate on implant surfaces as established biofilms and cause peri-implantitis is mixed, variable in its contents and in most cases dominated by diverse Gram-negative anaerobic bacteria (Mombelli & Décaillet, 2011). In the early stages of biofilm formation, adhesion is the primary interaction between cells and a predominance of facultative anaerobic streptococci are commonly found while Gramnegative strict anaerobic rods are present only in minor relative proportions (Mombelli, *et al.*, 1988, Pontoriero, *et al.*, 1994, 2002). Upon defects in the soft-tissue closure, implant surface comes in contact with proteins present in saliva (and possibly serum) that produce an interphase between the surface of the implant and the initial microbial colonizers. Oral streptococci have been constantly shown to be the major primary colonizers constituting up to 80% of plaque bacteria within 4 to 8 h (Diaz, et al., 2006, Dige, et al., 2009). Viridans streptococci express numerous protein and lipoprotein adhesins that provide them with a broad capacity for binding human or bacterial receptors. For example, the genome of S. sanguinis encodes over 90 polypeptides that are predicted to be anchored on the surface of cells, potentially involved in adhesion and creating a series of prior conditions for the adhesion of secondary colonizers (Xu, et al., 2007). However, subsequent growth and further co-adhesion of bacteria from the surrounding environment increase the local cell density and lead to the development of matured biofilm where Gram-negative anaerobes gain a more important role (Mombelli & Mericske-Stern, 1990). F. nucleatum coaggregates with virtually all other bacteria. It appears to act as bridging organism by binding other early colonizers such as streptococci, and later colonizers including well-described periodontal pathogens, such as P. gingivalis, Prevotella intermedia, Treponema denticola and Tannerella forsythia (Hultin, et al., 2002).

Surface characteristics that influence biofilm formation

Titanium is hitherto the most used dental implant material. Its advantages are biocompability, biomechanical resistance, chemical inertia, low density and absence of toxicity (Grosgogeat, et al., 1999, Siddiqi, et al., 2011). The first generation of successfully used titanium implants were machined with smooth surface, while the second generation underwent chemical and topographical modifications as surface roughness, surface free energy, hydrophilicity, and surface chemistry are important factors for the biological process of osseointegration (Albrektsson & Wennerberg, 2004). For titanium, most of the surface properties are associated with the chemically stable and corrosion-resistant surface oxide (TiO₂) that spontaneously develops on implant surface when it is exposed to air (Rådegran, et al., 1991). Surface oxide can vary in thickness and in microstructure; therefore, it plays a role in the surface topography whether the roughness of the surface is determined by the bulk material or by the thickness of formed oxide (Sul, et al., 2002). Thus, many of the currently used oral titanium implants are not well characterized with respect to their surface properties, and whether the improved bone response is due to the surface roughness or the surface composition has remained unclear (Palmquist, et al., 2010).

While these surface characteristics, although not well-understood, are important for the osseointegration of the implant, they also affect the microbial adherence on the implant. Bacterial adhesion to a bare material of known surface free energy can be well-estimated on the basis of the interfacial thermodynamics (Pratt-Terpstra, et al., 1989). However, upon insertion to the oral cavity, materials are covered with a proteinaceous layer termed pellicle. This layer is composed of absorbed proteins, amongst them several enzymes, glucoproteins and other macromolecules and mediates interactions between the solid material, oral fluids and microorganisms (Lendenmann, et al., 2000, Hannig, et al., 2005, Hannig & Joiner, 2006). Thus, adhesion to protein-coated surfaces is a complex process. The initial pellicle formation is mediated by ionic and hydrophobic interactions, and van der Waals forces followed by unfolding and conformational changes of proteins that allow continuous adsorption of biomolecules (Hannig & Joiner, 2006, Hannig & Hannig, 2009). As mentioned above, the initial bacterial adhesion passes through a phase of weak and reversible binding before an irreversible attachment is established. Reversible initial binding occurs preferentially in the surface irregularities where bacteria are protected against mechanical shear forces (Quirynen & Bollen, 1995, Carlén, et al., 2001, Marsh, 2006). Although some heterogeneity of the pellicles is expected, it was observed that pellicles on different substrata have a certain uniformity; the differences are not pronounced and seem to be attributed to the selective mechanisms of protein adsorption during the initial stages (Hannig & Hannig, 2009).

Pellicle formed *in vivo* reduces bacterial adhesion considerably irrespective of the underlying substratum and has a masking effect on the specific surface characteristics of the material. It has been noted that surface properties seem to influence mostly the early bacterial adherence and not the plaque maturation (Konradsson, *et al.*, 2006), as the composition of plaque on different surfaces featuring comparable roughness do not differ considerably (Quirynen, *et al.*, 1990). Interestingly, materials with low critical surface tension, so-called theta-surfaces, are unable to retain thick biofilms, at critical thickness the layers of plaque peel away (Baier, 2006).

In conclusion, physico-chemical surface properties of materials are only in part counterbalanced by pellicle formation. Despite the homogeneity and the masking effects of the pellicle, the conformational changes of the absorbed proteins on different materials are the most relevant factors for the bacterial adhesin receptors or for the effective sites of enzymes (Norde, 1995, Quinn, *et al.*, 2006, Goobes, *et al.*, 2008).

Peri-implantitis-related in vitro biofilms

Biofilm formation on teeth, restorative and implant materials is a complex process in the oral cavity that involves the microflora, salivary proteins and surface characteristics. Thus, numerous biofilm models have been developed to study different aspects of the formation, structure, gene expression and antimicrobial susceptibility of oral biofilms preferably in physiological conditions similar or close to those in the oral cavity (Busscher & van der Mei, 2006, McBain, 2009). In vitro model systems mimic the plaque formation with species-specific biofilms including up to 10 different species as demonstrated in the so-called Zurich biofilm model (Ammann, et al., 2012). Microtiter plates are among the most-frequently-used biofilm model systems to study the structure (Thurnheer, et al., 2004, Ammann, et al., 2012) or antimicrobial susceptibility (Shapiro, et al., 2002, Brändle, et al., 2008). As small volumes of reagents are needed, there is an opportunity to run a large scale screening of various antimicrobials by varying multiple experiment parameters. The in vitro modelling system offers straightforward and userfriendly handling that can explain its widespread use. However, also several weaknesses are evident: it is a closed system, no flow goes into or out of the reactor during the experiment, thus causing the environment to change – the nutrients become depleted, signalling molecules accumulate, toxic waste builds up, etc (McBain, 2009). On the contrary, in the flow chamber systems, the bacterial suspension circulates allowing biofilm formation on the substrate while nutrients are renewed and waste products removed (Larsen & Fiehn, 1996, Weiger, et al., 1999, Decker, et al., 2003, 2003, Busscher & van der Mei, 2006, Corbin, et al., 2011). Although oral cavity or implanted biomaterial surfaces are considered to be relatively stagnant environments where transport through liquid flow of suspended organisms plays a smaller role than sedimentation and diffusion, the fluid flow is found to be beneficial also to the adhesion of microorganisms (Busscher & van der Mei, 2006). It has been shown that increased fluid flow towards the surface results in faster adhesion of microorganisms due to higher mass transport, despite the presence of higher shear forces that stimulate their detachment. However, it is important to bear in mind that should the flow exceed a critical limit, wall shear rates become high enough to prevent adhesion or even lead to detachment (Liu & Tay, 2002, Busscher & van der Mei, 2006).

The flow chamber system that was applied throughout this series of studies has been successfully used in various other studies that have investigated initial bacterial adhesion

to different materials (Weiger, *et al.*, 1999, Hauser-Gerspach, *et al.*, 2007, 2008) or antimicrobial susceptibility of adherent cells (Decker, *et al.*, 2003, 2003, 2008, Vig Slenters, *et al.*, 2008).

Characterization of in vitro and in situ biofilms

The common practice is to analyze the microflora present in a biofilm by using tests based on DNA (microarray, PCR). While these enable to draw conclusions about the presence of specific pathogens, no further information about structure or viability of the biofilm can be obtained (Porras, *et al.*, 2002, Colombo, *et al.*, 2009).

Microscopic analyses have proven to be invaluable tools in describing the biofilms and providing indiscriminate views of the structure. Especially scanning electron microscopy (SEM) that allows high resolution and magnification is often used to illustrate biofilm formation. However, the images of biofilms might be compromised by the fact that bacteria embedded in the exopolysaccharide matrix (EPS) cannot be easily visualized (Al-Ahmad, *et al.*, 2009). Furthermore, as the bacterial cells adapt to growth in surface-associated communities, they often change their characteristic shape and size known from the planktonic growth, thus the identification of single species can be challenging (Stewart & Franklin, 2008).

Fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) combined with confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM) allows the visualization of spatial organization and quantification throughout the different layers of bacteria in biofilms. The technique enables 16S RNA based labelling of the bacteria, despite the EPS and has been frequently used in many studies over the last decade (Wecke, *et al.*, 2000, Thurnheer, *et al.*, 2004, Al-Ahmad, *et al.*, 2009, Dige, *et al.*, 2009, Schaudinn, *et al.*, 2009). It is worth noting that when the vitality status of the cells needs to be assessed neither of these microscopic approaches is able to give information.

Various approaches can be applied to assess vitality within biofilms after antimicrobial treatment. The widely used commercial kit Live/dead Baclight contains a pair of nucleic acid stains: a green fluorescent stain, Syto 9, which is membrane permeant and expected to stain all cells, and a red fluorescent stain, propidium iodide, which is membrane impermeant and should only stain cells with compromised membranes. This staining approach combined with confocal microscopy has been used to visualize the spatial patterns of antimicrobial action in biofilms (van der Mei, *et al.*, 2006, Aziz, *et al.*, 2010, Shen, *et al.*, 2011, Ordinola-Zapata, *et al.*, 2013). However, this kit is prone to potential

artefacts, such as the non-specific binding of propidium iodide, which result in flow cytometry experiments that the cells are scored both live and dead simultaneously (Stocks, 2004, Berney, *et al.*, 2007). Thus, the suitability of the staining should be critically evaluated for each system to ensure accurate estimation of bacterial vitality levels.

In contrast, conventional culture methods have proven to be efficient in testing the susceptibility of bacterial cells to antibiotics either by E-tests or by adding the antibiotic directly into the suitable growth agar (Skucaite, *et al.*, 2010, Mouratidou, *et al.*, 2011, Walter, *et al.*, 2011). As described earlier, cells in biofilms are often found with altered behaviour compared to their planktonic counterparts and cultivation of that kind of cells may pose a difficulty. In suboptimal growth conditions, the size of a cell population that is labelled viable but non-cultivable (VBNC) and defined by low levels of metabolic activity is complicated to estimate (Gilbert, *et al.*, 2002, Oliver, 2010). Moreover, these cells are able to switch again to being cultivable when the growth conditions improve, thus they influence the outcome of conventional tests and predispose patients to a possible (re)infection (Oliver, 2010).

Another method that is gaining more recognition in microbiology is isothermal microcalorimetry (IMC). Although also based on a conventional culturing principle, the method allows the monitoring of bacterial metabolic activity and bacterial growth in various types of samples, from soil to food microbiology (Braissant, et al., 2010). Furthermore, as a quantitative analytical technique IMC provides real time information about the lag time and growth rate of bacteria or defines the relation between the quantities of substances that take part in a reaction or form a compound in a specific process (Buchholz, et al., 2010, Braissant, et al., 2013). The principle of the method is that all living systems produce heat and heat evolution can always be measured calorimetrically without any interference with the processes. In other words, IMC measures heat production or consumption, which is proportional to the rate at which any given chemical, physical or biological process is taking place (i.e., metabolic heat from bacterial growth). However, it must be noted that the detected heat-flow signal is nonspecific and can be only handled as net signal related to the sum of all processes (Wadsö, 2002). Therefore, only carefully planned experiments are able to benefit fully from the sensitivity, accuracy, simplicity, and the amount of data the method provides. Unlike conventional culturing, IMC can detect a relatively small number of microorganisms when considered that a single bacteria is reported to produce approximately 2 pW when active, therefore only 10^5 bacterial cells are required to generate a detectable signal. Additionally, the range in which heat-flow can be measured reaches up to 2 W, that is orders of magnitude higher than microbes usually produce when cultivated in 1 – 3 ml of media (0.2 – 500 µW). As the baseline drift of the machine is typically around 0.2µW/24 h, the accuracy of the heat-flow measures in intermediate range (20 – 100 µW) can be expected to be close to 1% (Braissant, *et al.*, 2010).

The main challenge of the method is the translation of the data into useful microbiological data. When these data are not supported by any other measurement such as optical density (Alklint, *et al.*, 2005), cell counts (Kong, *et al.*, 2009), or other metabolic assays, conclusions are not easily drawn. However, microbial growth in batch culture goes through four phases: the lag phase, exponential growth phase, stationary growth phase and death phase, and these are reflected also in a typical heat curve (integrated heat-flow). Thus a growth curve modelling can be applied using Gompertz's growth curve equation that defines relationship between heat, maximum growth and lag time (Braissant, *et al.*, 2013). Many other models exists and have been thoroughly reviewed (Zwietering, *et al.*, 1990), however the use of these on IMC data is restricted and has been described in detail (Braissant, *et al.*, 2013).

A knowledgeable analysis of the data allows IMC to be used in different areas of microbiology. Liquid cultures are often preferred for rapid detection of bacterial growth in clinical settings. For example early detection of methicillin resistance in clinical isolates of Staphylococcus aureus (Baldoni, et al., 2009) or experimental meningitis in cerebrospinal fluid (Trampuz, et al., 2007) have been conducted using IMC. Since the method measures heat passively, culture growth on a solid or viscous medium as well as in a matrix can also be evaluated (Mihhalevski, et al., 2011, Kabanova, et al., 2012). Also, antimicrobial susceptibility has been tested by IMC as the inhibition of bacterial growth can be measured. Different studies have demonstrated antibiotic susceptibility with strains of Staphylococcus aureus (Baldoni, et al., 2009), Enterococcus faecalis (Furustrand Tafin, et al., 2011) and antifungal susceptibility of Aspergillus species (Furustrand Tafin, et al., 2012). Additionally, Howell & colleagues show that IMC is able to detect drug-resistant Mycobacterium strains more rapidly than the standardized conventional culturing and the method also allows the examination of new antimicrobial agents for their minimal inhibitory concentrations and their effects on bacterial cells (Howell, et al., 2012).

Treatment of biofilms, infection control

A reasonable approach for the prevention of peri-implantitis would be to inhibit bacterial colonization already in the initial phase of biofilm formation. However, the modifications in surface characteristics and other factors of the implant material not only affect the microbial colonization, but play a role also in the osseointegration. Studies including an animal model observed that re-osseointegration failed to occur in the area previously exposed to bacterial contamination, but consistently occurred at sites where a new sterile implant component was placed in the bone defect following surgical debridement (Persson, *et al.*, 2001). It was further observed that substantial re-osseointegration occurred with implants having rough sandblasted and acid-etched surfaces (SLA), while bone growth on a previously exposed smooth surface (turned) was minimal (Persson, *et al.*, 2001).

Due to its infection-induced nature, the treatment of peri-implantitis is generally based on the control of implant-associated biofilms (Mombelli & Décaillet, 2011). Here it is important to note that bacteria in biofilms are always found with increased tolerance towards antimicrobial agents. They are up to 100 - 1000 times less susceptible to antibiotics than their planktonic counterparts as the antibiotics have restricted penetration through the biofilm (Gilbert, *et al.*, 2002). For example, to eliminate *S. sanguinis* in biofilms compared to their planktonic counterparts 10 – 50 times higher concentrations of chlorhexidine are needed (Larsen & Fiehn, 1996) and in case of *S. sobrinus* it can be up to 300 times (Shani, *et al.*, 2000). Moreover, microorganisms within biofilms respond to local environmental conditions through various ways, such as altering their geneexpression patterns or undertaking physiological activities to adapt to a particular condition (i.e., stress through antimicrobials, changes in pH). (Gilbert, *et al.*, 2002, Stewart & Franklin, 2008, Høiby, *et al.*, 2010) Thus, most commonly mechanical debridement combined with systemic antibiotic treatment is applied in the clinical treatment of peri-implantitis.

In general the treatment is laborious, time-consuming and the patient's compliance in terms of daily oral hygiene routines plays an essential role. Mechanical debridement, laser or ultrasonic devices, combined with antiseptics and/or antibiotics can be used against adherent microorganisms (Karring, *et al.*, 2005, Schwarz, *et al.*, 2005, Persson, *et al.*, 2006, Renvert, *et al.*, 2006, Salvi, *et al.*, 2007, Heitz-Mayfield, *et al.*, 2012). Regenerative surgical approaches can be considered within selected indications (Romeo, *et al.*, 2005,

Schwarz, et al., 2006, 2007, 2008, Mombelli, et al., 2012).

Therefore the physical and chemical characteristics of implant surfaces should be analysed in detail in terms of primary microbial adherence (Quirynen, *et al.*, 1999, Pier-Francesco, *et al.*, 2006). Moreover, in order to evaluate the efficiency of strategies for the elimination of biofilms, there is a need for validated *in vitro* models that allow effective investigation of different detection approaches on primary adherence and biofilm formation as well as post-treatment examination of the bacteria. Thus, as the supragingival-subgingival implant-associated biofilm formation is a complex process, modelling it remains a challenging quest even more so as this important investigation area is of major clinical importance.

2 Study aims

Data on the colonization of dental implant surfaces by oral microorganisms is limited and covers mostly the identification of microbial species. However, knowledge on the colonization, in particular on the early stages, is essential for the development of strategies to control microbial adherence and biofilm formation on implant surfaces.

The aims of this study were:

- To utilize three different methods live/dead staining, conventional culture method and IMC – to quantify vital adherent *S. sanguinis* cells after direct exposure to disinfectants on protein covered titanium test specimens. Furthermore, to determine whether the results were in agreement or provided a more complete picture together than any method used alone.
- To develop and characterize a peri-implantitis-related three-species biofilm by well-established commonly-used microscopic methods and to complement this information by using IMC to determine various measures of the metabolic activity.
- 3) To determine the metabolic activity of our *in vitro* three-species biofilm associated with peri-implantitis in the presence of amoxicillin, metronidazole or their combination by IMC.

3 Hypotheses

- 1) The anaerobic flow-chamber model provides an efficient tool allowing the analysis of microbial adherence *in vitro*. Adherent microorganisms and their vitality status can be examined by fluorescence microscopy and IMC analysis.
- Efficacy of disinfection protocols is difficult to estimate as vitality staining and methods based on culturing might pose discrepancies in bacterial survival rates.
- 3) Adhesion of pathogenic bacteria found in peri-implantitis, *P. gingivalis* and *F. nucleatum*, is enhanced in the presence of primary colonizer, *S. sanguinis*.
- 4) An increased resistance in comparison to planktonic microorganisms is detected by single and multispecies biofilms on implant surface *in vitro*.
- 5) IMC allows investigation of intact biofilms at low metabolic levels and assessment of the antimicrobial effect of antibiotics.

4 Quantification of vital adherent *Streptococcus sanguinis* cells on protein-coated titanium after disinfectant treatment

M. Astasov-Frauenhoffer, O. Braissant, I. Hauser-Gerspach, A. U. Daniels, D. Wirz, R. Weiger, T. Waltimo

Journal of Material Science: Materials in Medicine, 2011 Sep;22(9):2045-51

Quantification of vital adherent *Streptococcus sanguinis* cells on protein-coated titanium after disinfectant treatment

Monika Astasov-Frauenhoffer · Olivier Braissant · Irmgard Hauser-Gerspach · A. U. Daniels · Dieter Wirz · Roland Weiger · Tuomas Waltimo

Received: 7 April 2011/Accepted: 6 June 2011/Published online: 14 June 2011 © Springer Science+Business Media, LLC 2011

Abstract The quantification of vital adherent bacteria is challenging, especially when efficacy of antimicrobial agents is to be evaluated. In this study three different methods were compared in order to quantify vital adherent Streptococcus sanguinis cells after exposure to disinfectants. An anaerobic flow chamber model accomplished initial adhesion of S. sanguinis on protein-coated titanium. Effects of chlorhexidine, Betadine®, Octenidol®, and ProntOral® were assessed by quantifying vital cells using Live/Dead BacLight[™], conventional culturing and isothermal microcalorimetry (IMC). Results were analysed by Kruskal-Wallis one-way analysis of variance. Live/dead staining revealed highest vital cell counts (P < 0.05) and demonstrated dose-dependent effect for all disinfectants. Microcalorimetry showed time-delayed heat flow peaks that were proportioned to the remaining number of viable cells. Over 48 h there was no difference in total heat between treated and untreated samples (P > 0.05), indicating equivalent numbers of bacteria were created and disinfectants delayed growth but did not eliminate it. In conclusion, contrary to culturing, live/dead staining

Institute of Preventive Dentistry and Oral Microbiology, School of Dental Medicine, University of Basel, Hebelstrasse 3, 4056 Basel, Switzerland e-mail: m.astasov-frauenhoffer@unibas.ch

O. Braissant · A. U. Daniels · D. Wirz Laboratory of Biomechanics and Biocalorimetry, c/o Biozentrum/Pharmazentrum, University of Basel, Klingelbergstrasse 50–70, 4056 Basel, Switzerland

R. Weiger

Clinic for Periodontology, Endodontology and Cariology, University of Basel, Hebelstrasse 3, 4056 Basel, Switzerland enables detection of cells that may be viable but non-cultivable. Microcalorimetry allows unique evaluation of relative disinfectant effects by quantifying differences in time delay of regrowth of remaining vital cells.

1 Introduction

Reliable quantification of vital adherent microorganisms on surfaces of various biomaterials is challenging. Fluorescence microscopy and conventional culturing methods have commonly been applied for the quantification of vital bacteria after direct exposure to disinfectants [1–9].

Determination of vital and dead bacterial cells by fluorescence microscopy is based on the intactness of the cell membrane. The fluorescence agent Syto 9 labels all the cells, whereas propidium iodide attaches only on cells with damaged membranes. Intact and damaged cells appear green and red when exposed to wavelengths of 450-490 and 546 nm, respectively [10]. This practical technique has been widely used in assessment of the vitality status of planktonic and adherent microorganisms [1-10]. Due to the three-dimensional nature of wellestablished biofilms such Syto 9/propidium iodide-based fluorescence microscopy has commonly been combined with confocal laser scanning microscopy. This enables observations also in the deeper layers of the biofilm [4, 6, 11, 12]. Determination of the vitality of adherent microorganisms by conventional culturing requires their resuspension prior to cultivation and subsequent quantification of colony-forming units. Several factors-such as physical damage to the cells by resuspension or lack of growth due to suboptimal culture conditions-may cause the culture method to yield partially false negative results. Consequently, using both fluorescent microscopy and

M. Astasov-Frauenhoffer $(\boxtimes)\cdot I.$ Hauser-Gerspach \cdot T. Waltimo

conventional culture methods commonly give results which are not always in accord [13]. This may also be due to viable but non-cultivable (VBNC) microorganisms [14]. Despite their typically low levels of metabolic activity, bacteria may switch again to being cultivable when the culture conditions improve, a process called resuscitation [15].

Isothermal microcalorimetry (IMC) has become a promising tool for monitoring heat flow generated by various (micro)biological metabolic activities in vitro. Modern microcalorimeters are very sensitive and can measure heat production rates of less than a microwattequivalent to the combined metabolic output of a few hundred thousand active bacteria [16]. Thus, metabolism and growth of relatively limited numbers of bacteria can be monitored continuously and accurately at any chosen temperature [17–19]. In microbiology, microcalorimetry has been used to determine replication rates of bacterial cells [20, 21], effects of biocides on microbial activity [22, 23], and bacterial coaggregation [24] as well as to identificy bacterial species by the patterns of their heat flow rate curves [25-28]. Hauser-Gerspach et al. [29] showed that IMC allows estimating the rate of bacterial adhesion onto surfaces. In that study IMC could also differentiate effects of buffer (saline vs. saliva) and material surface area, using different baseline numbers of readily-adherent Streptococcus sanguinis.

Based on its ability to measure growth and also detect bactericidal (and bacteriostatic) effects, IMC could be suitable for the determination of the number of vital adherent bacteria on various surfaces. Integration of the heat flow curves ($\mu W = vs. \mu J/s vs. time$) obtained by IMC provides the cumulative amount of heat (J vs. time) which is proportional to the cumulative amount of biomass formed. This allows determination of time the bacteria need to reach the exponential growth phase using the growth model of Gompertz [30, 31]. This lag time depends on the bacterial concentration of the sample; therefore defining it as a dependent variable to detect differences between standardized concentrations, provides a mathematical relationship between the time and concentration applicable for any treated sample. Additionally, as IMC allows following the microbial activity of the bacteria over a longer period of time, and thus it can be used to detect whether resuscitation of the VBNC occurs under a given set of conditions.

The aims of this study were to (a) utilize three different methods—live/dead staining, conventional culture method and IMC—to quantify vital adherent *S. sanguinis* cells after direct exposure to disinfectants on protein covered titanium test specimens and (b) determine whether the results were in agreement—or perhaps together provided a more complete picture than any single method.

🖄 Springer

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Microorganism

Streptococcus sanguinis (DSM 20068; German Collection of Microorganisms and Tissue Culture Cells, Braunschweig, Germany) was used throughout the study. A 10 μ l inoculum of *S. sanguinis* in skim milk solution (from -20° C) was suspended in 5 ml Schaedler broth (BBLTM, Becton–Dickinson, Basel, Switzerland) and incubated at 37°C for 8 h. From the 8-h-old culture a new subculture (1:50) was made, which was grown at 37°C for 16 h. Thereafter the culture was ultrasonicated for 30 s (30 W; Vibracell, Sonics & Materials, Newtown, CT); centrifuged at 8500 rpm for 5 min, washed with 0.9% NaCl and the cells were harvested again by centrifugation. Bacteria were resuspended in simulated body fluid (SBF) [32] to a density of 10⁸ cells/ml.

2.2 Saliva and serum

The saliva was collected (using paraffin chewing stimulation to augment production) from three healthy volunteers according to a recently reported procedure [33]. Briefly, the collected saliva was ultrasonicated for 30 s (30 W; Vibracell, Sonics & Materials, Newtown, CT), filtered through a 70 μ m filter (Cell Strainer, Becton–Dickinson, Basel, Switzerland) and centrifuged at 22,000×g for 40 min at 4°C. The supernatant was filtered through two connected filters (0.45 and 0.22 μ m; Millex-HV and Millex-GV, respectively; Millipore, Switzerland) and frozen at -20° C in aliquots of 10 ml corresponding the need for each individual experiment.

Serum used was a pool from five persons (Blutspendezentrum SRK, Basel, Switzerland). The pH of the serum/ saliva mixture was adjusted to 7.2 by adding potassium and sodium phosphate buffers (0.067 mol/l).

2.3 Substrate for adhesion

Polished titanium disks (mean roughness of 120 nm), 5 mm diameter and 1 mm thick (commercial pure titanium grade 2, ASTM F-67, Straumann AG, Waldenburg, Switzerland) sterilized by steam autoclaving and gamma irradiation were used as substrates for *S. sanguinis* adherence. The sterile disks were exposed for 15 min to freshly mixed serum/saliva (1:10) solution prior to each experiment in order produce protein pellicle formation [33].

2.4 Anaerobic flow chamber model

The flow chamber model has recently been described in detail [33]. Briefly, the system is comprised of a flow

chamber with the test specimen, a polytetrafluoroethylene dispenser containing the bacterial suspension and a peristaltic pump with an integrated speed controller (flow rate at 0.8 ml/min), all the parts are connected by polyvinylchloride tubes. The dispenser and flow chamber are placed on a shaker (260 rev/min) to maintain the homogeneity of the suspension. Circulating bacteria were allowed to adhere on the protein-coated disks under anaerobic conditions (MACS MG, Don Whitley Scientific Ltd; atmosphere of 80% N₂, 10% H₂ and 10% CO₂) at 37°C for 2 h.

2.5 Treatment of adherent *S. sanguinis* cells with disinfectants

Four different disinfectants were used in this study: chlorhexidine (chlorhexidin-D Mundspülung, 0.125% chlorhexidine digluconate; Universitätsspital Basel, Basel, Switzerland), Betadine® (0.75% povidone-iodine; Mundipharma, Medical Company, Basel, Switzerland), Octenidol® (0.1% octenidine; Schülke & Mayr GmbH, Norderstedt, Germany) and ProntOral® (0.1-0.25% polyhexamethylene biguadine; B. Braun Medical AG, Sempach, Switzerland). Each of the four was tested at four different concentrations, which are shown in Table 1. The protein-coated disks with adherent S. sanguinis cells were removed from the anaerobic flow chamber after 2 h, dipped gently in sterile saline to remove any non-adherent cells and placed in disinfectant solutions for 30 s. The disk incubated in sterile saline served as a control. After the exposure to the solutions, the disks were gently dipped in sterile saline. The sides and the bottom of the disks were decontaminated with 70% ethanol for 30 s. Thereafter the specimens were prepared either for live/dead staining and fluorescence microscopy, for culturing by the conventional method or for IMC.

2.6 Detection of the vitality status of the adherent bacteria

2.6.1 Live/dead staining and fluorescence microscopy

The adherent cells were stained by dual fluorescent dyes (Live/Dead BacLight[™] bacterial Viability Kit; MoBiTec,

Luzern, Switzerland), and analyzed microscopically (x40; Provis AX70, Olympus AG, Volketswil, Switzerland). It has been hypothesized that the use of two fluorescent dyes allows differentiation between vital and dead cells. Syto9 stains all cells but propidium iodide only stains those with damaged membranes. Microscopic examination using FITC and Cy3 light filters respectively reveals first all cells and then those which are stained by both dyes and are thus "dead". From each disk five randomly selected microscopic fields each of 0.024 mm² were photographed and the bacteria on the area counted by Analysis program (Olympus AG, Volketswil, Switzerland). All experiments were done three times.

2.6.2 Conventional culture methods

The specimens for conventional culture methods were placed in 1 ml 0.9% NaCl, vortexed for 1 min and treated with ultrasound for 15 s (22.5 W; Vibracell, Sonics & Materials, Newtown, CT) to remove adherent cells from the disks. Serial dilutions were made in sterile saline and aliquots of 0.1 ml were plated on Columbia blood agar plates (BBLTM, Becton–Dickinson, Basel, Switzerland; supplemented with 50 ml/l of human blood, 0.5 mg/l of menadione, and 5 mg/l of hemin) in duplicates and incubated anaerobically at 37°C for 48 h. Based on colony morphology and cellular characteristics the purity of the cultures was controlled, colonies were counted and quantified (CFU/ml). All experiments were done three times.

2.6.3 Microcalorimetric analysis

The IMC instrument (TAM 48, TA Instruments, New Castle DE USA) was first set at 37° C. The titanium disks were then placed in microcalorimetric ampoules filled with 3 ml of Schaedler broth. Each sample was ultrasonicated for 5 s (7.5 W; Vibracell). The ampoules were closed under aerobic conditions and each was placed in the equilibration position in one of the 48 chambers of the IMC instrument for 15 min to allow initial thermal equilibration. After this equilibration phase, the samples were lowered into measuring position and measurement started after 45 min (i.e., the time required to obtain full thermal

 Table 1 Disinfectants and their concentrations used in this study

Product name	Antimicrobial agent	Stock concentration (%)	Used concentrations in this study			
			1:1 (%)	1:2 (%)	1:4 (%)	1:8 (%)
Chlorhexidine	Chlorhexidine digluconate	0.125	0.125	0.063	0.031	0.016
Betadine®	Povidone-iodide	0.750	0.750	0.375	0.188	0.094
Octenidol [®]	Octenidine HCl	0.100	0.100	0.050	0.025	0.013
ProntOral®	Polyhexamethylene biguanide	0.100-0.250	0.100-0.250	0.05-0.125	0.025-0.063	0.013-0.031

🙆 Springer

equilibration). During all the measurement time, the instrument maintained the set temperature of 37°C with an accurracy of 0.02°C and a temperature drift less than 2μ °C and heat flow (μ W = μ J/s) versus elapsed time was recorded for each ampoule. Calibration of the microcalorimetric experiments was done by determining the lag times of different concentrations of *S. sanguinis* suspension (10^2 , 5×10^2 , 10^3 , 5×10^3 , 10^4 , 5×10^4 , 10^5 CFU/ml) in 3 ml Schaedler broth (BBLTM, Becton–Dickinson, Basel, Switzerland) in duplicates. The samples were ultrasonicated for 5 s (7.5 W; Vibracell), closed and placed into the IMC at 37°C for analysis. Each experiment was done three times.

For each sample the lag time was calculated by fitting the Gompertz's equation for describing growth curves to the integrated heat-flow curve (i.e. J vs. time) [30, 31]. Curve fitting was performed using the R software and the "grofit" package. So that heat flow (growth) data for the disinfectant-treated samples could be analyzed, the relationship between the CFU counts and lag time from the calibration assays was determined. The linear regression model was obtained by Stata 10 resulting in equation: $\ln(CFU) = 17.972 - 1.072 * lag time(h)$, with $R^2 =$ 0.9896. The equation allowed determination of the initial concentration of bacteria in each sample.

Additionally, the maximum growth rate of the bacteria and the accumulated heat over 48 h were determined using the Gompertz equation as well, in order to see if there were differences in these parameters between disinfectant-treated and untreated control samples.

2.7 Statistical analysis

For all three methods the results were evaluated as vitality percentages of the samples. Therefore, the vital cell counts in each of the treated samples were divided by the vital cell counts for untreated control samples and multiplied by 100. All the results were analyzed by Stata 10 software for the Kruskal–Wallis analysis of variance.

3 Results

3.1 Anaerobic flow chamber

Bacterial suspension inside the anaerobic flow chamber system maintained the pH and CFU counts at the same level throughout the 2 h, indicating that the conditions for the bacteria did not change during the experiment. At the beginning and at the end of the experiment the CFU counts per ml were $6.38 \times 10^8 \pm 2.18 \times 10^7$ and $6.40 \times 10^8 \pm 1.84 \times 10^7$, respectively. The corresponding pH values ranged from 7.27 \pm 0.05 and 7.20 \pm 0.06, respectively.

Deringer

3.2 Live/dead staining and fluorescence microscopy

Vitality percentages of the adherent cells after the different disinfectant treatments are presented in Fig. 1. The vitality percentage was calculated in relation to the control that was present in each disinfectant group. A dose-dependent effect was observed for chlorhexidine, Betadine[®] and ProntOral[®]. Octenidol[®] treatment resulted in a small statistically not significant inconsistency between the 1:8 and 1:4 dilutions, which could be explained by the high efficacy of the disinfectant, resulting overall in a very small percentage of vital cells at both dilutions. Disinfectant treatment resulted in significant differences among the different concentrations of the same disinfectant in all four cases (P < 0.05).

Almost no effect on the vitality of the adherent *S. san*guinis cells was detected by the lowest concentration of chlorhexidine and Betadine[®]. In comparison, Octenidol[®] and ProntOral[®] reduced the vitality of the cells far more efficiently at the three lowest concentrations than did chlorhexidine or Betadine[®]. No significant differences were observed among the undiluted original solutions.

3.3 Conventional culture method

The results of the colony forming unit (cfu-based) experiments are shown in Fig. 2. (In untreated control samples an average of 2.3×10^4 CFU/ml was detected.) A dose-dependent effect was observed only with chlorhexidine by this method. Significant differences between the different concentrations of the same disinfectant were present in the chlorhexidine group (P < 0.05); the other three disinfectants gave no significant differences for different concentrations. The vitality of the cells was reduced to less than 1% by the treatment with Betadine[®], Octenidol[®] and ProntOral[®] at all concentrations except 1:8 Octenidol[®].

A remarkably lower percentage of vital cells were detected by the CFU count experiments than by fluorescent



Fig. 1 Vitality percentage of disinfectant-treated samples compared to the untreated control measured by live/dead staining method. As a result mean values with standard deviations are given (n = 3)



Fig. 2 Vitality percentage of disinfectant-treated samples compared to the untreated control measured by conventional culturing method. Mean values with standard deviations are given (n = 3)

staining. The biggest difference between the two methods was detected for the treatment with Betadine[®]. The differences in results for the Octenidol[®] and ProntOral[®] groups were smaller between the two methods, but still significant at lower concentrations.

3.4 Isothermal microcalorimetry (IMC)

The vitality percentages determined by IMC are shown in Fig. 3. (In the untreated control 2.8×10^4 CFU/ml were detectable). No dose-dependent effect was observed by this method for reasons explained later. Significant differences among the different concentrations of the same disinfectant were present only in the chlorhexidine group (P < 0.05), the other three disinfectants had no significant differences among the results for different concentrations.

The vitality percentages of the cells were lower when determined by IMC compared to either of the other two methods. The highest vitality rate was observed after the treatment with 1:8 dilution of chlorhexidine (73.32% \pm 17.24). More than 1% of vital cells were detected just by four other solutions: 2.74% \pm 1.16 by 1:4 of chlorhexidine,



Fig. 3 Vitality percentage of disinfectant-treated samples compared to the untreated control measured by isothermal microcalorimetry. Mean values with standard deviations are given (n = 3)

 $14.49\%\pm2.87$ by 1:8 of Octenidol®, $10.21\%\pm2.49$ by 1:8 of ProntOral® and $4.28\%\pm3.28$ by 1:2 of ProntOral®.

The mean maximum growth rate in control samples was $1.14 \pm 0.21 \text{ h}^{-1}$ and for the treated samples grouped all together $1.14 \pm 0.78 \text{ h}^{-1}$. The average accumulated heat produced by control samples in 48 h was $6.54 \pm 0.13 \text{ J}$ and this of the treated samples grouped all together $5.74 \pm 0.25 \text{ J}$. No significant difference was detected between the untreated control sample and any of the treated samples for either of these parameters (P > 0.05), which indicates that equivalent numbers of bacteria were created and disinfectants delayed growth but were not able to eliminate it.

4 Discussion

In the present study three methods were used to analyse the vitality rates of adherent bacteria after direct exposure to four disinfectants in order to compare the methods and define their optimal usage. The techniques applied were: live/dead staining and two methods based on the cultivability of the cells—the conventional culture method to count survived bacteria as colonies on a solid media, and IMC—using the cumulative heat production versus time curves of the samples to quantify the amount of the cells in the liquid media. To achieve comparable data, the results revealed by each method were converted into vitality percentages \pm SD.

It is well-known that bacterial response to chemical and environmental stress results in activating low-metabolism survival mechanisms. A common related response to such stress on bacterial cells is an inability to develop into colonies on routine culture media, even though the cells may remain viable for long periods of time. As cells in the viable but non-cultivable (VBNC) state are no longer culturable, alternate nonculture methods must be used to demonstrate their vitality. A commonly used method is staining (e.g. the Live/Dead BacLight[™] assay) designed to demonstrate the percentage of cell exhibiting cytoplasmic membrane integrity (and presumed viability), through direct microscopic examination [4, 10]. Despite their typically low levels of metabolic activity, these bacteria are again culturable upon resuscitation. The VBNC cells are one of the major hindrances each treatment protocol might encounter. Under suitable conditions the VBNC cells are able to overcome the stress and re-grow to the same density the cell population had before the applied treatment. Therefore, monitoring the behaviour of the disinfectant-treated bacteria in their favourable environment leads to a better insight of what is happening to the VBNC cells.

All disinfectants showed dose-dependent effects throughout the study with a minor and not significant exception in the Octenidol[®] group in results of the live/dead staining. This can be explained by the high efficacy of the disinfectant reducing the percentage of vital cells to less than 5%. The vitality percentages measured by live/dead staining were considerably higher than those measured by either the conventional culture methods or IMC, especially for chlorhexidine and Betadine[®]. On one hand, a possible high population of VBNC cells (with intact membranes) may lead to higher viability percentages for live/dead staining than the methods based on culturing [15]. On the other hand, lower viability percentages for the culture methods could be due to killing of more cells through the necessary handling procedures. However, bacteriostatic effects of disinfectants remain beyond the sensitivity of the live/ dead method. In case of Betadine[®], which is based on an iodide complex, the interference with the propidium iodide in the staining step should be considered as a confounding factor that might reduce the percentage of dead cells correctly stained. Thus, for the first time ever the present results indicate that live/dead staining may have severe limitations for in vitro susceptibility testing due to possible interactions with iodine-based antimicrobial agents.

The CFU/ml determined in untreated control samples showed no significant difference between the conventional culture method and microcalorimetry, thereby making the discrepancy in the results between the methods even more obvious. An immense difference in results was observed in the samples treated with chlorhexidine, where a dosedependent effect was detected by conventional culture and by live/dead staining, but IMC only detected a significant amount of bacteria in the sample treated with lowest concentration of the disinfectant.

The IMC experiments were run at 37°C for 48 h in a suitable media for *S. sanguinis* to grow. Such a setup enables one to monitor also the long-term bactericidal effects of the disinfectants because any unkilled cells need considerable time to become metabolically active again and replicate sufficiently to result in a detectable heat flow. Over 48 h there was no difference in total heat between treated and untreated samples (P > 0.05), indicating equivalent numbers of bacteria were created and disinfectants delayed growth but did not eliminate it. The sample treated with a 1:8 dilution of chlorhexidine was the only one which showed a high rate of vitality by microcalorimetry at the beginning of the experiment.

In this study model, 48 h was enough to observe by IMC the resuscitation and growth of the disinfectant-treated bacteria to the same level as the untreated control, despite the significant differences in the starting disinfectant concentrations.

5 Conclusions

Live/dead staining is intended to detect bacterial cell death based on destruction of the cell membrane. The higher percent viable cells—right after treatment—found by this method compared to the culture methods indicates that the higher percentage of viable cells determined by live/dead staining also includes VBNC cells.

The conventional culture method used was not able to detect VBNC cells and thereby underestimates the count of bacteria able to re-colonize the surface. Although IMC is based on culturing, too, it allows unique evaluation of relative disinfectant effects by quantifying differences in time delay of regrowth of remaining vital cells—i.e. cells that would be classified as VBNC cells by conventional culture. As a completely "non-invasive" monitoring method with high sensitivity, reproducibility and simplicity, IMC is a more appealing method of choice than conventional culture method to observe the efficacy—and dynamics—of disinfectants in vitro.

References

- Auschill TM, Hein N, Hellwig E, Follo M, Sculean A, Arweiler NB. Effect of two antimicrobial agents on early in situ biofilm formation. J Clin Periodontol. 2005;32:147–52.
- Cousido MC, Tomás Carmona I, García-Caballero L, Limeres J, Alvarez M, Diz P. In vivo substantivity of 0.12% and 0.2% chlorhexidine mouthrinses on salivary bacteria. Clin Oral Investig. 2010;14:397–402.
- Decker EM, Maier G, Axmann D, Brecx M, von Ohle C. Effect of xylitol/chlorhexidine versus xylitol or chlorhexidine as single rinses on initial biofilm formation of cariogenic streptococci. Quintessence Int. 2008;39:17–22.
- Hope CK, Wilson M. Analysis of the effects of chlorhexidine on oral biofilm vitality and structure based on viability profiling and an indicator of membrane integrity. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2004;48:1461–8.
- McBain AJ, Bartolo RG, Catrenich CE, Charbonneau D, Ledder RG, Gilbert P. Effects of a chlorhexidine gluconate-containing mouthwash on the vitality and antimicrobial susceptibility of in vitro oral bacterial ecosystems. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2003;69:4770-6.
- Pan PC, Harper S, Ricci-Nittel D, Lux R, Shi W. In vitro evidence for efficacy of antimicrobial mouthrinses. J Dent. 2010;38(Suppl 1):S16-20.
- Rohrer N, Widmer AF, Waltimo T, Kulik EM, Weiger R, Filipuzzi-Jenny E, et al. Antimicrobial efficacy of 3 oral antiseptics containing octenidine, polyhexamethylene biguanide, or Citroxx: can chlorhexidine be replaced? Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2010;31:733–9.
- Tandjung L, Waltimo T, Hauser I, Heide P, Decker EM, Weiger R. Octenidine in root canal and dentine disinfection ex vivo. Int Endod J. 2007;40:845–51.
- Weiger R, de Lucena H, Decker E, Löst C. Vitality status of microorganisms in infected human root dentine. Int Endod J. 2002;35:116–71.
- Decker E-M. The ability of direct fluorescence-based, two-colour assays to detect different physiological states of oral streptococci. Lett Appl Microbiol. 2001;33:188–92.

 $\underline{}^{\oplus}$ Springer

- Bandara HM, Yau JY, Watt RM, Jin LJ, Samaranayake LP. Escherichia coli and its lipopolysaccharide modulate in vitro Candida biofilm formation. J Med Microbiol. 2009;58:1623–31.
- Kim J, Pitts B, Stewart PS, Camper A, Yoon J. Comparison of the antimicrobial effects of chlorine, silver ion, and tobramycin on biofilm. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2008;52:1446–53.
- Shen Y, Stojicic S, Haapasalo M. Bacterial viability in starved and revitalized biofilms: comparison of viability staining and direct culture. J Endod. 2010;36:1820–3.
- Xu H-S, Roberts N, Singleton FL, Attwell RW, Grimes DJ, Colwell RR. Survival and viability of nonculturable *Escherichia coli* and *Vibrio cholerae* in the estuarine and marine environment. Microb Ecol. 1982;8:313–23.
- Oliver JD. Recent findings on the viable but nonculturable state in pathogenic bacteria. FEMS Microbiol Rev. 2010;34:415–25.
- Higuera-Guisset J, Rodriguez-Viejo J, Chacon M, Munoz FJ, Vigues N, Mas J. Calorimetry of microbial growth using a thermopile based microreactor. Thermochim Acta. 2005;427:187–91.
- Wadsö I. Isothermal microcalorimetry in applied biology. Thermochim Acta. 2002;394:305–11.
- Braissant O, Wirz D, Goepfert B, Daniels AU. Use of isothermal microcalorimetry to monitor microbial activities. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2010;303:1–8.
- Braissant O, Wirz D, Goepfert B, Daniels AU. Biomedical use of isothermal microcalorimeters. Sensors. 2010;10:9369–83.
- Bäckmann P, Wadsö I. Cell growth experiments using a microcalorimetric vessel equipped with oxygen and pH electrodes. J Biochem Biophys Methods. 1991;23:283–93.
- Bunker JC, James AM. Microcalorimetric studies on the effects of media and environmental conditions on the growth of bacteria. Microbios. 1986;47:177–88.
- Ruming Z, Yi L, Zhixiong X, Ping S, Songsheng Q. A microcalorimetric method for studying the biological effects of La3+ on *Escherichia coli*. J Biochem Biophys Methods. 2000;46:1–9.

- Sand W, von Rège H. Evaluation and quantification of bacterial attachment, microbial activity, and biocide efficacy by microcalorimetry. Methods Enzymol. 1999;310:361–74.
- Postollec F, Norde W, van der Mei HC, Busscher HJ. Enthalpy of interaction between coaggregating and non-coaggregating oral bacterial pairs—a microcalorimetric study. J Microbiol Methods. 2003;55:241-7.
- Boling EA, Blanchard GC, Russell WJ. Bacterial identification by microcalorimetry. Nature. 1973;241:472–3.
- Lopez D, Vinas M, Loren JG, Bermudez J. Analysis of microcalorimetric curves for bacterial identification. Can J Microbiol. 1987;33:6–11.
- 27. Monk P, Wadsö I. The use of microcalorimetry for bacterial classification. J Appl Bacteriol. 1975;38:71-4.
- Vine GJ, Bishop AH. The analysis of microorganisms by microcalorimetry in the pharmaceutical industry. Curr Pharm Biotechnol. 2005;6:223–38.
- Hauser-Gerspach I, de Freitas PS, Dan Daniels AU, Meyer J. Adhesion of *Streptococcus sanguinis* to glass surfaces measured by isothermal microcalorimetry (IMC). J Biomed Mater Res. 2008;85:42–9.
- Gompertz B. On the nature of the function expressive of the law of human mortality, and on a new mode of determining the value of life contingencies. Philos Trans R Soc London. 1825;115:513–85.
- Zwietering MH, Jongenburger I, Rombouts FM, van't Riet K. Modeling of the bacterial growth curve. Appl Environ Microbiol. 1990;56:1875–81.
- Cho SB, Nakanishi K, Soga N, Ohtsuki C, Nakamura T, Kitsugi T, et al. Defence of apatite formation on silica gel on its structure: Effect of heat treatment. J Am Ceram Soc. 1995;78:1769–74.
- Hauser-Gerspach I, Kulik EM, Weiger R, Decker EM, von Ohle C, Meyer J. Adhesion of *Streptococcus sanguinis* to dental implant and restorative materials in vitro. Dental Mater J. 2007;26:361-6.

5 Isothermal microcalorimetry provides new insights into biofilm variability and dynamics

M. Astasov-Frauenhoffer, O. Braissant, I. Hauser-Gerspach, A.U. Daniels, R. Weiger, T. Waltimo

FEMS Microbiology Letters, 2012 Dec;337(1):31-7.

RESEARCH LETTER

Isothermal microcalorimetry provides new insights into biofilm variability and dynamics

Monika Astasov-Frauenhoffer¹, Olivier Braissant^{2,3}, Irmgard Hauser-Gerspach¹, Alma U. Daniels², Roland Weiger⁴ & Tuomas Waltimo¹

¹Institute of Preventive Dentistry and Oral Microbiology, School of Dental Medicine, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland; ²Laboratory of Biomechanics and Biocalorimetry, c/o Biozentrum/Pharmazentrum, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland; ³Department of Urology, University Hospital Basel, Basel, Switzerland; and ⁴Clinic for Periodontology, Endodontology and Cariology, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland;

Correspondence: Monika Astasov-Frauenhoffer, Institute of Preventive Dentistry and Oral Microbiology, School of Dental Medicine, University of Basel, Hebelstrasse 3, 4056 Basel, Switzerland. Tel.:+41 (0)61 267 25 98; fax: +41 (0)61 267 26 58; e-mail: m.astasov-frauenhoffer@unibas.ch

Received 1 June 2012; revised 13 August 2012; accepted 3 September 2012. Final version published online 3 October 2012.

DOI: 10.1111/1574-6968.12007

Editor: Gilbert Shama

Keywords

oral biofilm; metabolic activity; heat flow; scanning electron microscopy; fluorescence *in situ* hybridization; isothermal microcalorimetry.

Abstract

The purpose of this study was to investigate a three-species in vitro biofilm with peri-implantitis-related bacteria for its variability and metabolic activity. Streptococcus sanguinis, Fusobacterium nucleatum, and Porphyromonas gingivalis were suspended in simulated body fluid containing 0.2% glucose to form biofilms on polished, protein-coated implant-grade titanium disks over 72 h using a flow chamber system. Thereafter, biofilm-coated disks were characterized by scanning electron microscopy and fluorescence in situ hybridization/confocal laser scanning microscopy. To assess metabolic activity within the biofilms, their heat flow was recorded for 480 h at 37 °C by IMC. The microscopic methods revealed that the total number of bacteria in the biofilms varied slightly among specimens $(2.59 \times 10^4 \pm 0.67 \times 10^4 \text{ cells mm}^{-2})$, whereas all three species were found constantly with unchanged proportions (S. sanguinis $41.3 \pm 4.8\%$, F. nucleatum 17.7 $\pm 2.1\%$, and P. gingivalis $41.0 \pm 4.9\%$). IMC revealed minor differences in time-to-peak heat flow (20.6 ± 4.5 h), a trend consistent with the small variation in bacterial species proportions as shown by microscopy. Peak heat flow (35.8 \pm 42.6 μ W), mean heat flow (13.1 \pm 22.0 μ W), and total heat over 480 h (23.5 ± 37.2 J) showed very high variation. These IMC results may be attributed to differences in the initial cell counts and relative proportions of the three species, their distribution and embedment in exopolysaccharide matrix on the test specimens. The present results provide new insights into variability and dynamics of biofilms on titanium disks, aspects that should be explored in future studies of dental surfaces.

Introduction

Biofilms can be described as communities of microbiota with associated extracellular polymeric matrix on a substrate. Microorganisms within such biofilms respond to local environmental conditions in various ways, such as altering their gene-expression patterns or undertaking physiological activities to adapt to a particular condition/ location within the biofilm. This reveals heterogeneities within the bacterial population (Stewart & Franklin, 2008). Furthermore, as the microbial cells adapt their growth within surface-associated communities, they often change their characteristic shape and size from those that they exhibit during planktonic growth, thus making their microscopic identification challenging (Costerton, 1999; Webster *et al.*, 2004). Natural variants within biofilms increase tolerance of antimicrobial agents (Drenkard & Asubel, 2002) and help to adapt to environmental conditions (Klein *et al.*, 2010).

Well-developed biofilms on dental implant surfaces cause peri-implantitis, an infection-induced inflammation that is one of the main causes of dental implant failure (Paquette *et al.*, 2006). Due to the complex nature of the supragingival/subgingival implant-associated biofilm formation, *in vitro* modeling is challenging. However, it may offer an efficient approach for studying biomaterials and biofilms, including their responses to therapeutic interventions. Recent reports on early colonization and biofilm

> © 2012 Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved

formation on implant surfaces indicate the urgent need for further developments in dental materials science and infection control (Quirynen *et al.*, 2006; Fürst *et al.*, 2007; Heuer *et al.*, 2007; Salvi *et al.*, 2008; Pye *et al.*, 2009; Mombelli & Décaillet, 2011).

Microscopic analyses have proven to be invaluable tools in describing biofilms in terms of their structure and association with a surface. Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) allows a high-resolution and magnification. However, SEM cannot be used to visualize bacteria embedded in the exopolysaccharide matrix (EPS) (Marrie et al., 1982). As a complement to SEM, fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) combined with confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM) allows the observations of the spatial organization and quantification of bacterial biofilms using 16S rRNA gene-labeled probes even within EPS matrix (Amann, 1995; Paster et al., 1998; Schwartz et al., 2003; Thurnheer et al., 2004; Al-Ahmad et al., 2009). In various studies over the last decade, these methods have facilitated direct observations to characterize the bacterial distribution within oral biofilms (Wecke et al., 2000; Thurnheer et al., 2004; Dige et al., 2009; Schaudinn et al., 2009). Neither of these microscopic approaches, however, is sufficient to give real-time information about the dynamics of the metabolic activity and biomass formation within biofilms; rather, they only provide sequential periodic 'snapshots,' over time, of the structure and composition of the biofilm.

Isothermal microcalorimetry (IMC) is a highly sensitive analytical tool that provides, in real time, the progress of a chemical and physical process. All such processes produce or consume heat. The heat flow $(W = J s^{-1})$ is proportional to the reaction rate, and total heat over time (J) is a measurement of the extent of the process. IMC captures heat flow in the microwatt (µW) range and enables detection of the metabolic heat evolved from ca. 10 000 mammalian cells or ca. 100 000 bacteria (Braissant et al., 2010). Thus, IMC has the potential to provide real-time quantitative data on metabolic activity, aggregation, and biomass formation in biofilms in situ. The sensitivity of IMC has been exploited in evaluating metabolism and growth of living cells in culture in medical and environmental microbiology (Howell et al., 2012). While IMC has been applied to study the co-aggregation of different strains of biofilm-forming bacteria (Postollec et al., 2003), studies that focus on the use of this technique for investigating in vitro multispecies biofilms are scarce.

The purpose of this study was to characterize a peri-implantitis-related biofilm by well-established commonly used microscopic methods and to complement this information using IMC to determine various measures of the metabolic activity. A three-species biofilm was allowed to form on surfaces of protein-coated titanium disks in a

© 2012 Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved M. Astasov-Frauenhoffer et al.

newly developed anaerobic flow chamber system. The selected bacterial species were an early colonizer, *Streptococcus sanguinis*; a pathogenic bridging organism, *Fusobacterium nucleatum*; and a common periodontal and peri-implant pathogen, *Porphyromonas gingivalis* (Quirynen *et al.*, 2006; Fürst *et al.*, 2007; Heuer *et al.*, 2007).

Materials and methods

Bacterial suspensions

Streptococcus sanguinis (DSM 20068), F. nucleatum (ATCC 10953), and P. gingivalis (DSM 20709) were used for the biofilm formation. A 10 µL inoculum of S. sanguinis in skim milk solution (stored at -20 °C) was suspended in 5 mL Schaedler broth (BBLTM; Becton Dickinson, Basel, Switzerland) and incubated aerobically at 37 °C for 8 h. The bacterial suspension was used as an inoculum for a new subculture (1:50), which was incubated aerobically at 37 °C for 16 h. The culture was ultrasonicated for 30 s (22.5 W; Vibracell, Sonics & Materials, Newtown, CT), centrifuged at 5700 g for 5 min at room temperature, washed with physiological saline, and harvested by centrifugation. The S. sanguinis cells were resuspended in simulated body fluid (Cho et al., 1995) to a density of $1.1 \times 10^8 \pm 6.2 \times 10^7 \text{CFU mL}^{-1}$. Fusobacterium nucleatum and P. gingivalis were maintained in Microbank[®] blue vials (Chemie Brunschwig AG, Basel, Switzerland) at -70 °C. One pearl of each frozen culture was inoculated into 10 mL thioglucolate aliquots (Biomerieux SA, Geneva, Switzerland), enriched with 5 µg mL⁻¹ hemin (Fluka, Buchs, Switzerland) and 0.5 µg mL⁻¹ menadione (VWR International, Dietikon, Switzerland), and incubated anaerobically at 37 °C for 96 h. The cultures were harvested; F. nucleatum and P. gingivalis were suspended ¹ and to a density of $3.2 \times 10^7 \pm 1.9 \times 10^6$ CFU mL⁻ $2.1 \times 10^9 \pm 9.3 \times 10^8$ CFUmL⁻¹, respectively.

Anaerobic flow chamber

Details and uses of the flow chamber system have been presented previously (Weiger *et al.*, 1999; Decker *et al.*, 2003a, b, 2008; Hauser-Gerspach *et al.*, 2007; Meier *et al.*, 2008; Vig Slenters *et al.*, 2008); thus only brief descriptions of its main parts are given here. The system consists of an anaerobic flow chamber (Minucells, Bad Abbach, Germany) with (1) a test specimen mounted with its test surface not facing the flow direction; (2) a Teflon[®] dispenser (Multimed GmbH, Kirchheim unter Teck, Germany) containing the bacterial suspension; and (3) a peristaltic pump (Spetec GmbH, Erding, Germany) with an integrated speed controller. In this study, the system was modified to mimic conditions related to peri-implantitis, namely an anaerobic

FEMS Microbiol Lett 337 (2012) 31-37

atmosphere and a slow-flowing, nutrient-poor environment containing three different strains of peri-implantitisrelated bacteria. Specifically, the circulating bacteria were allowed to adhere to the protein-coated titanium specimens under anaerobic conditions (MACS MG; Don Whitley Scientific Ltd; atmosphere of 80% N₂, 10% H₂ and 10% $\rm CO_2$) at 37 °C for 72 h.

Biofilm formation

Sterile polished disks of commercially pure titanium (Grade 2, ASTM F-67), 5 mm diameter and 1 mm thickness, with a mean surface roughness of 120 nm (Straumann AG, Basel, Switzerland), were sterilized by steam autoclaving and gamma irradiation and used as substrates. The disks were placed for 15 min in freshly mixed serum/saliva mixture (1 : 10) prior to each experiment in order to allow protein pellicle formation (Hauser-Gerspach *et al.*, 2007). Fasting stimulated saliva of three healthy volunteers was homogenized, filtered through a 70-µm filter (Cell Strainer; Becton Dickinson), and centrifuged at 22 000 *g* for 45 min at 4 °C. The supernatant was filtersterilized (45 and 0.22 µm; Millex-HV and Millex-GV respectively; Millipore, Switzerland) and mixed with pooled serum (Blutspendezentrum, Basel, Switzerland).

The protein-coated substrates were placed in the anaerobic flow chamber, 0.2% glucose was added to the bacterial suspension, and the suspension was circulated at 0.8 mL min⁻¹ for 72 h. To compensate for the decrease in pH of the bacterial suspension (7.26 \pm 0.07 to 4.84 \pm 0.21), it was renewed in 24-h intervals. After 72 h, the biofilm-coated titanium disks were evaluated using SEM, CLSM, and IMC.

SEM

The biofilms were fixed overnight in 2% glutaraldehyde solution (Sigma, Buchs, Switzerland), washed once with PBS, and dehydrated in stepwise increasing concentrations of ethanol – 30%, 50%, 70%, 90%, $2 \times 100\%$ for 10 min each. The samples (n = 3) were then critical-point-dried and coated with 10 nm of gold and examined (Fei Nova NanoSEM 230^{\oplus} , Eindhoven, the Netherlands).

FISH and CLSM

Oligonucleotide DNA probes, labeled at the 5'-end with Cy3 and Cy5 or with 6-carboxyfluorescein (FAM) and additionally labeled at the 3'-end (Microsynth AG, Balgach, Switzerland), are listed with their sequences and specificities in Table 1. Appropriate probe sequences for the specific detection of each bacterial strain in the biofilm have been described previously (Paster *et al.*, 1998; Thurnheer *et al.*, 2004; Guggenheim *et al.*, 2009).

The biofilms were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (Sigma) for 1 h at 4 °C and washed once with PBS. Thereafter, the biofilm-associated microorganisms were permeabilized by exposure to lysozyme (Sigma; 70 000 U mL⁻¹) for 2 min at room temperature and rinsed with physiological saline. FISH was carried out using a modification of a method previously described (Thurnheer et al., 2004). The biofilms were pre-incubated for 15 min at 48 °C in final hybridization buffer (0.9 M NaCl, 20 mM L⁻¹ Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 0.01% SDS) containing 30% formamide and then placed for 3 h at 48 °C in the same solution with the oligonucleotide probes added (5 µg mL⁻¹ for STR405 and LNA-Pging, 15 µg mL⁻¹ for FUS664). After hybridization, the biofilms were immersed for 15 min at 48 °C in washing buffer (102 mM L⁻¹ NaCl, 20 mM L^{-1} Tris-HCl 7.5, 5 mM L^{-1} EDTA, 0.01% SDS). Thereafter, the disks were embedded upsidedown in 10 µL Mowiol mounting solution and stored at room temperature in the dark at least 6 h. Biofilms were examined using a Leica SP5® microscope (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany) fitted with three lasers: He-Ne, argon and DPSS. Filters were set to 490-530 nm for FAM, 570-610 nm for Cy3, and 650-730 nm for Cy5. The fluorescence signal from Cy5 was assigned to blue color for better differentiation from Cy3. Confocal images were obtained using a 63× (numeric aperture 1.4) oil immersion objective. Each biofilm was scanned at three random positions at the center of the disk. Z-direction series were generated by vertical optical sectioning at every position with the thickness of the slices set to 0.3 µm. Proprietary Leica confocal software was used to acquire digital images of 1024×1024 pixels in size that were the average of 32 frames. The counts of the bacteria in the biofilm were made using image analysis software (Olympus AG,

Table 1. Characteristics of 16S rRNA gene-directed oligonucleotide probes used for FISH (underlined bases have locked ribose conformation)

Probe	Tag	Target	Sequence $(5' \rightarrow 3')$	Reference
STR405	Cy5	S. sanguinis	TAG CCG TCC CTT TCT GGT	(Thurnheer <i>et al.</i> , 2004)
FUS664	FAM2	F. nucleatum	CTT GTA GTT CCG CYT ACC TC	(Paster <i>et al.</i> , 1998)
LNA-Pging	Cy3	P. gingivalis	GTT TTC ACC ATC MGT CAT C	(Guggenheim <i>et al.</i> , 2009)

FEMS Microbiol Lett 337 (2012) 31-37

© 2012 Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved Volketswil, Switzerland) and verified manually on random views to exclude possible errors due to not counting bacteria present in bundles. The experiment was repeated twice, resulting in six disks that were scanned at three random position in the central area.

IMC

Three milliliters of Columbia agar (BBLTM; Becton Dickinson) supplemented with 5% human blood (Blutspendezentrum), 5 µg mL⁻¹ hemin (Fluka, Buchs, Switzerland), and 0.5 µg mL⁻¹ menadione (VWR International, Dietikon, Switzerland) were placed in sterile IMC ampoules and incubated anaerobically for 48 h. Specimens with the biofilms were placed in ampoules, enabling continuous contact between the biofilm and the agar. A sterile titanium disk with no biofilm on it served as the negative control. Each of the ampoules was immediately sealed under anaerobic conditions and inserted into one of the individual microcalorimeters in the 48-microcalorimeter instrument used (TAM 48[®]; TA Instruments, New Castle, DE). The heat flow (μ J s⁻¹ = μ W), due to the heat given up during bacterial activity in the biofilm (*n* = 24), was recorded continuously for 480 h. From the data, the following parameters were determined: time-to-peak heat flow, peak heat flow, mean heat flow (that is, heat flow averaged over the period, 72–420 h, as during this time it stayed on a stable plateau level after reaching the peak heat flow), and total heat produced up to 480 h (computed as the integral of the heat-flow-vs.-time curve between 0 and 480 h).

Statistical analysis

For each of the four IMC parameters determined, the median, mean, and standard deviation were computed. Test of significance was conducted using the Kruskal–Wallis analysis of variance method and a commercially available software package (stata Statistical Software, release 16; StataCorp, College Station, TX). Significance was denoted at P < 0.05.

Results

SEM revealed that a biofilm was present over the entire surface of a protein-coated titanium disk (Fig. 1a), although minor variations were observed in the density and areas covered by the EPS matrix (Fig. 1b).

FISH/CLSM showed bundles of *F. nucleatum* cells that formed the framework of the biofilm in which both coccal species were observed to bind (Fig. 2). Hardly, any



Fig. 1. SEM scans of 72-h-old *in vitro* threespecies biofilm. Bars on the pictures indicate 5 µm on (a) and 1 µm on (b). A continuous biofilm formation is detected all over the surface (a); in detailed view of (a), the formation of EPS is shown on (b) with arrows.



Fig. 2. Biofilms detected by FISH/CLSM Streptococcus sanguinis shown in blue (STR405-Cy5), Fusobacterium nucleatum in green (FUS664-FAM2) and Porphyromonas gingivalis in red (LNA-Pging-Cy3). The variability in the total counts of the bacteria is shown on panels (a) and (b). Bar indicates 50 μm.

 \circledast 2012 Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved

FEMS Microbiol Lett 337 (2012) 31-37

co-adherence between the two coccal species was detected. While the relative proportions of the bacterial species stayed unchaged within the biofilms, the total bacterial count showed significant differences (P < 0.05); however, the biological meaning of the minor differences in total counts is doubtful (Table 2).

A typical IMC heat-flow-vs.-time plot is given in Fig. 3. In 17 of 24 samples, after the heat flow reached a peak, it gradually reduced and finally returned to baseline value. In each of the other seven samples, however, after the heat flow reached a peak, it did not reduce to baseline value but remained at a high plateau. While the variability in the time-to-reach peak, heat flow is low, each of the other three parameters determined showed large variability (Table 3).

 Table 2. Bacterial proportions and total counts of Streptococcus sanguinis, Fusobacterium nucleatum and Porphyromonas gingivalis in the 72-h-old biofilm detected by FISH/CLSM

Species	Strain	Proportion (%)	Total cell count (cells mm ⁻²)
S. sanguinis	DSM 20068	41.3 ± 4.8	$1.07 \times 10^4 \pm 2.97 \times 10^3$
F. nucleatum	ATCC 10953	17.7 ± 2.1	$4.90 \times 10^3 \pm 2.08 \times 10^3$
P. gingivalis	DSM 20709	41.0 ± 4.9	$1.06 \times 10^4 \pm 4.13 \times 10^3$

Mean \pm SD are given (n = 6).



Fig. 3. Typical heat flow-vs.-time curve, as obtained using IMC. The range of the curve is shown as the gray area, the mean curve is the continuous curve and median curve is the dotted curve (n = 24).

Table 3.	Summary	of IMC	results	(n :	= 24)
----------	---------	--------	---------	------	-------

	Time-to-peak heat flow (h)	Peak heat flow (μW)	Mean heat flow (μW)	Total heat produced (J)
Median	20.5	14.9	2.7	5.5
Mean	20.6	35.8	13.1	23.5
Standard deviation	4.5	42.6	22.0	37.2

FEMS Microbiol Lett 337 (2012) 31-37

Discussion

Microscopic analyses have proven to be invaluable tools in describing biofilms in terms of their structure and association with a surface; however, no real-time information about the dynamics of the metabolic activity and biomass formation can be obtained. The present study is the first of its kind characterizing a multispecies *in vitro* biofilm using both well-established microscopic methods (SEM and FISH/CLSM) and a very sensitive calorimetric method (IMC).

Imaging by SEM was used to gain the first overview of the formed biofilm. As intended, the scans revealed biofilms that covered the entire surface with bacteria partially embedded in EPS, indicating that 0.2% glucose (Tenuta *et al.*, 2006; Filoche *et al.*, 2007) was sufficient to induce EPS formation. In addition, SEM showed that *F. nucleatum* served as the central 'bridging organism' or framework in the biofilm architecture, demonstrating inter- and intraspecies cellular binding (Lancy *et al.*, 1983; Kaplan *et al.*, 2009; Merritt *et al.*, 2009). SEM was not able to distinguish between the two coccal species present in the biofilm partly because of their similar shape and size, and partly because of embedding in EPS.

FISH/CLSM allowed the discrimination between *S. sanguinis* and *P. gingivalis* and determination of the relative proportions of all three species. A partially heterogeneous architecture of the biofilm, which may be due competitive binding, was observed. However, the distribution of the relative proportions of the three species in all experiments stayed unchanged.

The heat flow at a given time (as determined using IMC) was a measure of metabolic activities of all bacteria present, and it thus declines correspondingly if bacterial activity diminishes. Similarly, heat over time (i.e. the integral of the heat flow) is a proxy for the growth curve and approaches a maximum when metabolic activity decreases (Braissant et al., 2010). This metabolic decline and asymptotic biomass accumulation pattern is due to changes in the IMC ampoule internal environment that occur during bacterial metabolism; that is, exhaustion of available nutrients or electron acceptors or build up of metabolic waste products. The pattern of rise and decline of the metabolic activity of the biofilm was seen in the first 50 h (Fig. 3) exhibiting similarities in the behavior of the biofilm to common liquid or solid culture studies (Braissant et al., 2010). Thus, cumulative heat correlates with cumulative bacterial biomass only during this early part when the biofilm still grows and until heat flow peak is reached. Once the heat flow has stabilized at a constant level, the accumulation of heat is most probably not related to a net increase in bacterial numbers and production of fresh biomass, but, rather, to metabolic activities

> © 2012 Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved

related to maintainance of the mature biofilm and survival of the present cells. Alternatively, it can be hypothesized that during this steady state of the heat flow, growth rate is equal to bacterial death rate, resulting in a stable metabolically active bacterial population. This latter hypothesis is in line with the first one if equally low growth and death rates are considered.

In the present study, between 72-480 h ca. 70% of the samples (n = 17) showed a low steady state heat flow comprised between 0.8 and 1.8 μ W, whereas in the remaining 30% (n = 7), the values were found much higher (reaching from 8.6 to 86.0 μ W). Assuming a heat flow of 2 pW per active bacterial cell (James, 1987), we calculated the number of active bacteria in the biofilm. This suggests that in the present samples showing the lowest steady state heat flow, ca. 4×10^5 to 9×10^5 bacteria remained active on the surface of the titanium disk (5 mm²), whereas this number is up to 4.3×10^7 in the samples having the highest heat flow. This result emphasizes major variability within biofilms that appear similar in microscopic analyses. On the other hand, the time required to reach the maximum heat flow showed only moderate specimen-to-specimen variability. This can be understood as a consequence of the static conditions of measurement - constant temperature, sealed and unstirred ampoules, a fixed initial chemical environment, plus, as shown by FISH/CLSM, unchanged relative initial proportions of the three bacteria (Table 2).

In contrast to the time required to reach the maximum heat flow peak, each of the three parameters computed from the IMC data varied widely (Table 3), showing that biofilm maturation rapidly diverges between originally similar samples. These results indicate heterogenecity of the aggregate metabolic activity of all bacteria present and reflect the differences in remaining active cells after 480 h. These findings regarding the heat flow and the total heat must, by definition, reflect the total number of bacteria present at the time or the time interval over which the parameters are calculated. At this point, it should be remembered that, in contrast to microscopic analyses that provide generalized data based on number of scans taken, IMC allows the measurement of the whole surface of the test specimen harboring the biofilm. Therefore, the variability of the IMC results may be explained by differences in the initial cell counts and bacterial distributions within the biofilm on the titanium disks that cannot be detected by microscopy where the whole surface area cannot be studied in detail.

In conclusion, (1) three-species biofilm formed on protein-coated titanium was documented by SEM and FISH/ CLSM; specifically, the species present, their proportions, and their approximate surface distribution were determined; (2) IMC detected a surprisingly high variability within biofilms as the measurement includes the whole surface area harboring the biofilm rather than generalized data based on number of areas scanned; (3) these new insights may be beneficial, and, thus, should be considered in future research into biofilms on dental surfaces.

Acknowledgements

We thank Prof. Dr. Rudolf Gmür and Dr. Thomas Thurnheer (Institute of Oral Biology, University of Zurich), for fruitful discussions on FISH; Evi Bieler and Dr. Markus Dürrenberger (Microscopy center, University of Basel, Switzerland), for assistance with microscopic analyses; and Straumann AG (Basel, Switzerland), for providing the titanium disks. The manuscript was partially supported by Swiss Dental Association grant SSO246-09.

References

- Al-Ahmad A, Follo M, Selzer A-C, Hellwig E, Hannig M & Hannig G (2009) Bacterial colonization of enamel *in situ* investigated using fluorescence *in situ* hybridization. *J Med Microbiol* 58: 1359–1366.
- Amann RI (1995) In situ identification of microorganisms by whole cell hybridization with rRNA-targeted nucleic acid probes. *Molecular Microbial Ecology Manual*, Vol. 3.3.6. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Bodrecht, The Netherlands, pp. 1–15.
- Braissant O, Wirz D, Goepfert B & Daniels AU (2010) Use of isothermal microcalorimetry to monitor microbial activities. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 303: 1–8.
- Cho SB, Nakanishi K, Soga N, Ohtsuki C, Nakamura T, Kitsugi T & Yamamuro T (1995) Defence of apatite formation on silica gel on its structure: effect of heat treatment. J Am Ceram Soc **78**: 1769–1774.
- Costerton JW (1999) Introduction to biofilm. Int J Antimicrob Agents 11: 217–221.
- Decker EM, Weiger R, Wiech I, Heide PE & Brecx M (2003a) Comparison of antiadhesive and antibacterial effects of antiseptics on *Streptococcus sanguinis*. *Eur J Oral Sci* **111**: 144–148.
- Decker EM, Weiger R, von Ohle C, Wiech I & Brecx M (2003b) Susceptibility of planktonic versus attached *Streptococcus sanguinis* cells to chlorhexidine. *Clin Oral Investig* 7: 98–102.
- Decker EM, Maier G, Axmann D, Brecx M & von Ohle C (2008) Effect of xylitol/chlorhexidine versus xylitol or chlorhexidine as single rinses on initial biofilm formation of cariogenic streptococci. *Quintessence Int* **39**: 17–22.
- Dige I, Nyengaard JR, Kilian M & Nyvad B (2009) Application of stereological principles for quantification of bacteria in intact dental biofilms. *Oral Microbiol Immunol* 24: 69–75.
- Drenkard E & Asubel FM (2002) *Pseudomonas* biofilm formation and antibiotic resistance are linked to phenotypic variation. *Nature* **416**: 740–743.

FEMS Microbiol Lett 337 (2012) 31-37

[@] 2012 Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved

Isothermal microcalorimetry in biofilm research

- Filoche SK, Soma KJ & Sissons CH (2007) Caries-related plaque microcosm biofilms developed in microplates. Oral Microbiol Immunol 22: 73–79.
- Fürst MM, Salvi GE, Lang NP & Persson GR (2007) Bacterial colonization immediately after installation on oral titanium implants. *Clin Oral Implants Res* 18: 501–508.
- Guggenheim B, Gmür R, Galicia JC, Stathopoulou PG, Benakanakere MR, Meier A, Thurnheer T & Kinane DF (2009) *In vitro* modeling of host-parasite interactions: the 'subgingival' biofilm challenge of primary human epithelial cells. *BMC Microbiol* **9**: 280–292.
- Hauser-Gerspach I, Kulik EM, Weiger R, Decker EM, Von Ohle C & Meyer J (2007) Adhesion of *Streptococcus* sanguinis to dental implant and restorative materials in vitro. Dent Mater J 26: 361–366.
- Heuer W, Elter C, Demling A, Neumann A, Suerbaum S, Hannig M, Heidenblut T, Bach FW & Stiesch-Scholz M (2007) Analysis of early biofilm formation on oral implants in man. J Oral Rehabil 34: 377–382.
- Howell M, Wirz D, Daniels AU & Braissant O (2012) Application of a microcalorimetric method for determining drug susceptibility in mycobacterium species. J Clin Microbiol 50: 16–20.
- James AM, ed (1987) Thermal and Energetic Studies of Cellular Biological Systems. Wright Publ, Bristol, UK, pp. 147–166.
- Kaplan CW, Lux R, Haake SK & Shi W (2009) The *Fusobacterium nucleatum* outer membrane protein RadD is an arginine-inhibitable adhesin required for inter-species adherence and the structured architecture of multispecies biofilm. *Mol Microbiol* 71: 35–47.
- Klein MI, DeBaz L, Agidi S, Lee H, Xie G, Lin AH, Hamaker BR, Lemos JA & Koo H (2010) Dynamics of *Streptococcus mutans* transcriptome in response to starch and sucrose during biofilm development. *PLoS ONE* 5: e13478.
- Lancy PJ, Dirienzo JM, Appelbaum B, Rosan B & Holt SC (1983) Corncob formation between Fusobacterium nucleatum and Streptococcus sanguis. Infect Immun 40: 303–309.
- Marrie TJ, Nelligan J & Costerton JW (1982) A scanning and transmission electron microscopic study of an infected endocardial pacemaker lead. *Circulation* **66**: 1339–1341.
- Meier R, Hauser-Gerspach I, Lüthy H & Meyer J (2008) Adhesion of oral streptococci to all-ceramics dental restorative materials *in vitro*. *J Mater Sci Mater Med* **19**: 3249–3253.
- Merritt J, Niu G, Okinaga T & Qi F (2009) Autoaggregation response of *Fusobacterium nucleatum*. Appl Environ Microbiol 75: 7725–7733.
- Mombelli A & Décaillet F (2011) The characteristics of biofilms in peri-implant disease. J Clin Periodontol 38: 203–213.
- Paquette DW, Brodala N & Williams RC (2006) Risk factors for endosseous dental implant failure. *Dent Clin North Am* 50: 361–374.

- Paster BJ, Bartoszyk I & Dewhirst FE (1998) Identification of oral streptococci using PCR-based, reverse-capture, checkerboard hybridization. *Methods Cell Sci* 20: 223–231.
- Postollec F, Norde W, van der Mei HC & Busscher HJ (2003) Enthalpy of interaction between coaggregating and noncoaggregating oral bacterial pairs—a microcalorimetric study. J Microbiol Methods 55: 241–247.
- Pye AD, Lockhart DEA, Dawson MP, Murray CA & Smith AJ (2009) A review of dental implants and infection. *J Hosp Infect* **72**: 104–110.
- Quirynen M, Vogels R, Peeters W, van Steenberghe D, Naert I & Haffajee A (2006) Dynamics of initial subgingival colonization of 'pristine' peri-implant pockets. *Clin Oral Implants Res* 17: 25–37.
- Salvi GE, Furst MM, Lang NP & Persson GR (2008) One-year bacterial colonization patterns of *Staphylococcus aureus* and other bacteria at implants and adjacent teeth. *Clin Oral Implants Res* 19: 242–248.
- Schaudinn C, Carr G, Gorur A, Jaramillo D, Costerton JW & Webster P (2009) Imaging of endodontic biofilms by combined microscopy (FISH/cLSM – SEM). J Microsc 235: 124–127.
- Schwartz T, Hoffmann S & Obst U (2003) Formation of natural biofilms during chlorine dioxide and u.v. disinfection in a public drinking water distribution system. J Appl Microbiol 95: 591–601.
- Stewart PS & Franklin MJ (2008) Physiological heterogeneity in biofilms. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 6: 199–210.
- Tenuta LM, Ricomini Filho AP, Del Bel Cury AA & Cury JA (2006) Effect of sucrose on the selection of mutans streptococci and lactobacilli in dental biofilm formed *in situ*. *Caries Res* **40**: 546–549.
- Thurnheer T, Gmur R & Guggenheim B (2004) Multiplex FISH analysis of a six-species bacterial biofilm. *J Microbiol Methods* 56: 37–47.
- Vig Slenters T, Hauser-Gerspach I, Daniels AU & Fromm KM (2008) Silver coordination compounds as light-stable, nano-structured and anti-bacterial coatings for dental implant and restorative materials. *J Mater Chem* **18**: 5359–5362.
- Webster P, Wu S, Webster S, Rich KA & McDonald K (2004) Ultrastructural preservation of biofilms formed by nontypeable *Hemophilus influenza*. *Biofilms* **1**: 165–182.
- Wecke J, Kersten T, Madela K, Moter A, Göbel UB, Friedmann A & Bernimoulin JP (2000) A novel technique for monitoring the development of bacterial biofilms in human periodontal pockets. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **191**: 95–101.
- Weiger R, Decker EM, Krastl G & Brecx M (1999) Deposition and retention of vital and dead *Streptococcus sanguinis* cells on glass surfaces in a flow-chamber system. *Arch Oral Biol* 44: 621–628.

FEMS Microbiol Lett 337 (2012) 31-37

© 2012 Federation of European Microbiological Societies Published by Blackwell Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved

37
6 Microcalorimetric determination of the effects of amoxicillin, metronidazole and their combination on an *in vitro* biofilm

M. Astasov-Frauenhoffer, O. Braissant, I. Hauser-Gerspach, R. Weiger, C. Walter, N.U. Zitzmann, T. Waltimo

Accepted for publication in Journal of Periodontology

Microcalorimetric determination of the effects of amoxicillin, metronidazole and their combination on an *in vitro* biofilm

Monika Astasov-Frauenhoffer^{*}, Olivier Braissant^{†‡}, Irmgard Hauser-Gerspach^{*}, Roland Weiger[§], Clemens Walter[§], Nicola U. Zitzmann[§], Tuomas Waltimo^{*}

*Clinic of Preventive Dentistry and Oral Microbiology, School of Dental Medicine, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

[†]Laboratory of Biomechanics and Biocalorimetry, Biozentrum/Pharmazentrum, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

[‡]Department of Urology, University Hospital Basel, Basel, Switzerland

[§]Department for Periodontology, Endodontology and Cariology, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland

Corresponding author:

Monika Astasov-Frauenhoffer Clinic of Preventive Dentistry and Oral Microbiology School of Dental Medicine University of Basel Hebelstrasse 3 CH-4056 Basel Switzerland E-mail: m.astasov-frauenhoffer@unibas.ch Tel.: +41 61 267 25 98 Fax: +41 61 267 26 58

Word count: 3291; Number of figures: 3; Number of tables: 3

Running title: Microcalorimetry and antibiotic susceptibility

One sentence summary: Microcalorimetry provides new valuable information on antibiotic effects on oral biofilms.

Abstract

Background: The mechanism of action of adjuvant antibiotic therapy in the treatment of peri-implantitis is not well understood. The aim of the study was to investigate antibiotic susceptibility of an *in vitro* biofilm by isothermal microcalorimetry (IMC).

Methods: Titanium disks containing a 72 h three-species biofilm (*Streptococcus sanguinis* ATCC20068, *Fusobacterium nucleatum* ATCC10953, and *Porphyromonas gingivalis* DSM20709) were placed in series of IMC ampoules with nutrient agar supplemented with increasing concentrations of amoxicillin, metronidazole or their combination and incubated anaerobically for 10 d. Lag time and maximum growth rate were determined from continuous heat-flow recordings of metabolic activity. To validate the IMC biofilm results, adherent *S. sanguinis* and *P. gingivalis* were incubated anaerobically in media supplemented with antibiotics at 37°C for 24 h, and their viability was determined by live/dead staining, conventional culturing, and IMC.

Results: In all biofilm samples incubated with antibiotics a prolonged lag phase was observed compared to controls (p<0.05). Maximum growth rate was significantly lower for samples either treated with amoxicillin or metronidazole in comparison to controls (p<0.05). Combining the antibiotics did not improve this effect. Concentrations exceeding 10xMIC completely inhibited the growth of adherent *S. sanguinis* and *P. gingivalis*, whereas lower concentrations resulted in only a delay in the lag phase. A poor correlation was observed between live/dead staining and conventional culturing.

Conculsion: IMC gives new evidence about antibiotic effects on oral biofilms and is more informative than conventional culture and live/dead assays. The combination of antibiotics was found more efficient than metronidazole alone. However, only minor differences in the growth inhibition compared to amoxicillin alone were detected.

Keywords: calorimetry, amoxicillin, metronidazole, biofilms, microbial sensitivity tests

Introduction

The major goal of periodontal therapy is to reduce or eliminate pathogenic species and to maintain colonization by host-compatible species in the oral cavity. ^{1, 2} The pathogenic microbiota forms biofilms on implant surfaces and when left unattended leads to inflammatory reactions and progresses into peri-implantitis.³ Different therapeutic options have been advocated for the treatment and prevention of periodontal/peri-implant diseases. In particular, the combination of metronidazole and amoxicillin is frequently used, which is known to have a synergistic or additive antimicrobial effect and to improve clinical results against periodontal infections.⁴⁻⁸ In surgical peri-implantitis treatment, the use of amoxicillin and clavulanic acid has been recommended due to the observed presence of *Staphylococcus aureus* species, while in patients with a history of periodontal disease, the combination of amoxicillin and metronidazole is indicated. ⁹⁻¹¹ However, it is important to note that bacteria in biofilms have been shown to be 100 - 1000 times less susceptible to antibiotics than their planktonic counterparts as the antibiotics have restricted penetration through the biofilm.¹² Additionally, microorganisms within biofilms respond to local environmental conditions in several ways, such as altering their gene-expression patterns or undertaking physiological activities to adapt to a particular condition (i.e., stress through antimicrobials). ¹²⁻¹⁴ Thus most commonly mechanical debridement combined with systemic antibiotic treatment is applied in the clinical treatment of peri-implantitis. 9, 15

Various approaches have been used to quantify the effects of antibiotic treatment on oral microbiota. The common practice is to analyze the microflora via conventional culture methods that have proven to be efficient in testing the susceptibility of bacterial cells to antibiotics. ^{8, 16, 17} Nevertheless, viable but non-cultivable (VBNC) cells, a population of cells that is defined by low levels of metabolic activity and for their ability to switch

again to being cultivable when the growth conditions improve, may influence the outcome of conventional tests and predispose patients to (re)infection. ¹⁴

Fluorescence microscopy combined with live/dead staining has also been used to detect the effects of antibiotics on adherent microorganisms. ¹⁸⁻²⁰ While the conventional culture method includes only cultivable bacteria, which are able to proliferate, live/dead staining combined with fluorescence microscopy enables the quantification of viable cells based on the intactness of their membranes including also the VBNC population of cells. Combined with confocal laser scanning microscopy, it is possible to assess the viability throughout biofilms. ¹⁴

Isothermal microcalorimetry (IMC) is a highly sensitive culture-based technique that allows for the measurement of heat generated by microbial activities. Bacteria replicate in a suitable culture medium, resulting in an exponential increase in the heat production rate that can be recorded in real-time by IMC (i.e., heat-flow curve). When using IMC, broth cultures are often preferred for rapid detection of bacterial growth in clinical settings ²¹⁻²³, but since the method measures heat passively, culture growth on solid or viscous medium as well as in matrix can also be evaluated. ^{24, 25} Also the aspect of heterogeneity of biofilms can be assessed by this method. ²⁶ As antimicrobials inhibit bacterial growth, IMC has been used to determine antimicrobial susceptibility, as demonstrated with strains of *S. aureus, Enterococcus faecalis* and fungi. ^{21, 27-30}

As the mechanism of action of adjuvant antibiotic therapy in the treatment of periimplantitis is not well understood, the aim of this study was to determine the metabolic activity of an *in vitro* three-species biofilm ²⁶ associated with periodontitis and periimplantitis in the presence of amoxicillin, metronidazole or their combination by IMC.

Materials and Methods

Susceptibility testing of planktonic bacteria

The susceptibilities of planktonically grown Streptococcus sanguinis DSM20068, Fusobacterium nucleatum ATCC10953, and Porphyromonas gingivalis DSM20709 were determined for amoxicillin, metronidazole and the combination of these drugs in a 3:2 ratio 4 by the macrodilution method according to the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) protocol. 31 Based on these data, the antibiotic concentrations were calculated for susceptibility testing of the biofilm and adherent single-species experiments. Previously, adherent bacteria and microorganisms in established biofilms have been reported to demonstrate an increased resistance to antibiotics in comparison to their planktonic counterparts. 13, 32 Thus, to detect the antibiotic effects by the applied methodology multiplications (range 0.25 - 100x) of minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) values were applied.

Susceptibility testing of adherent S. sanguinis and P. gingivalis

A 10 μ L inoculum of *S. sanguinis* in skim milk solution (stored at -20 °C) was suspended in 10 mL Schaedler broth^{||} and incubated aerobically at 37 °C for 16 h. *P. gingivalis* was maintained in vials[¶] at -70 °C. One pearl of frozen culture was inoculated into 10 mL thioglucollate^{||} enriched with 0.5 mg/L of menadione, and 5 mg/L of hemin, and incubated anaerobically[#] for 96 h. *S. sanguinis* and *P. gingivalis* were harvested in stationary growth phase, washed with physiological saline, and resuspended in simulated body fluid (SBF) (7.996 g NaCl, 0.35 g NaHCO₃, 0.224 g KCl, 0.228g K₂HPO₄ x 3H₂O, 0.305g MgCl₂ x 6H₂O, 0.278 g CaCl₂, 0.071 g Na₂SO₄, 6.057 g (CH₂OH)₃CNH₂ dissolved in 1 L of ultra-pure water, pH adjusted to 7.25 with 1 mol/L HCl). ³³ Ionic concentrations of the SBF are similar to those of the human extracellular fluid and may thus mimic some *in vivo* conditions and improve the reproducibility in an *in vitro* periimplantitis model. Titanium disks^{**} were coated with 2 mL pooled serum-saliva mixture (1:10) prior to each experiment for 15 min at room temperature as described previously in detail. ³⁴ Circulating bacteria (approximately 5×10^8 for *S. sanguinis* and 1×10^9 for *P. gingivalis*) were allowed to adhere to the protein-coated disks at 37°C for 2 h in an anaerobic[#] flow chamber system described elsewhere in detail. ³⁴ Subsequently, the disks were incubated anaerobically[#] for 24 h in antibiotic solutions at concentrations of 1x, 10x, 50x and 100x MIC of amoxicillin, metronidazole and their combination. Disks incubated in 0.9% NaCl served as untreated controls. Live/dead staining and conventional culturing were used to assess the vitality of cells after 24 h treatment.

The metabolic activity of the cells in the presence of antibiotics up to 7 d was measured by IMC. The titanium disks** with adherent bacteria were placed in ampoules filled with 3 mL of enriched thioglycollate (0.5 mg/L of menadione, and 5 mg/L of hemin)supplemented with antibiotic solutions as mentioned above. Adherent bacteria on titanium disks incubated on in pure thioglycollate^{||} without any antibiotics supplemented were used as positive controls in each experiment. Sterile titanium disks without inoculated bacteria served as negative controls. Additionally, ampoules filled with thioglycollate^{||} were used as blank samples for baseline detection. The ampoules were closed in strictly anerobic conditions[#] and placed in the IMC device^{$\ddagger \ddagger}$ </sup> at 37°C and the heat-flow was recorded up to 10 d. The IMC experiments were calibrated by determining the lag times of a set of five increasing starting concentrations (CFU/mL on blood agar plates^{††}) of S. sanguinis and P. gingivalis in duplicate to evaluate the survival rates of treated samples (n=3). A linear regression model describing the relationship between the CFU counts and lag time for S. sanguinis and P. gingivalis was obtained with statistical software^{§§} and resulted in the following equations: $\ln(CFU) = 17.972 - 1.072 * \log 1000$ time(h) with $R^2 = 0.9896$ and $ln(CFU) = 18.376 - 0.133^* lag time(h)$ with $R^2 = 0.9646$,

respectively. Additionally, the maximum growth rate of the bacteria was determined using the same equation to detect differences between antibiotic-treated and untreated control samples.

The adherent cells stained by dual fluorescent dyes^{$\|\|\|$} were analyzed microscopically^{$\|\|$} using FITC and Cy3 light filters at 5 randomly selected microscopic fields, each 0.024 mm² and the number of live and dead bacteria on the area counted^{$\|\|$}. Vitality percentage of each sample was calculated by the equation (live cell count/total cell count)*100%.

For conventional culture methods, the specimens were placed in 1 mL 0.9% NaCl, vortexed for 1 min and treated with ultrasound for 15 s^{##} to remove adherent cells from the disks without affecting their viability. ³⁴ Serial dilutions were made in sterile saline, and aliquots of 0.1 mL were plated on agar plates^{††} (supplemented with 50 mL/L of human blood, 0.5 mg/L of menadione, and 5 mg/L of hemin) in duplicate and were incubated anaerobically[#] at 37°C for 48 h (*S. sanguinis*) or 10 days (*P. gingivalis*). Based on colony morphology and cellular characteristics, the purity of the cultures was controlled, and colonies were counted and quantified (CFU/mL). Additionally, to be able to compare the staining results to conventional culturing, the vitality was expressed as a percentage of the corresponding control, i.e., (CFU/mL in treated sample/CFU/mL in untreated control sample)*100%.

Susceptibility testing of an in vitro biofilm

Biofilm formation has been described in detail previously by Astasov-Frauenhoffer and colleagues. ²⁶ Briefly, *S. sanguinis, F. nucleatum* (storage and growth conditions the same as for *P. gingivalis*), and *P. gingivalis* were harvested in stationary growth phase, washed with physiological saline, and resuspended in SBF at densities of $1.1 \times 10^8 \pm 6.2 \times 10^7$, $3.2 \times 10^7 \pm 1.9 \times 10^6$ and $2.1 \times 10^9 \pm 9.3 \times 10^8$ CFU/mL, respectively. The bacterial suspension was allowed to form a biofilm on protein-coated disks^{** 34} in an anaerobic[#]

flow chamber for 72 h. The effects of the antibiotics on the metabolic activity of the biofilm were continuously recorded by IMC. Titanium disks covered by the biofilm were placed in microcalorimetric ampoules filled with 3 mL of agar^{††} supplemented with 50 mL/L of human blood, 0.5 mg/L of menadione, and 5 mg/L of hemin and with antibiotic solutions corresponding to 0.25x, 0.5x, 1x, 10x, 50x, and 100x MIC. Of the three species, the MIC values are the highest for *S. sanguinis*, thus these were applied for the biofilm. Controls used were prepared with blood agar^{††} otherwise the same type as in single-species experiments. The ampoules were closed in anerobic conditions and placed in the IMC instrument^{‡‡} at 37°C to record heat-flow ($\mu W = \mu J/s$) over 10 d. The data were analyzed by fitting the heat over time curve (i.e., resulting from the integration of the heat-flow curve) with Gompertz's equation with the "grofit" package in statistical software^{***} (Fig.1). As outcome parameters, the maximum growth rate (1/h) and lag time (h) were estimated.³⁵

Statistical analysis

The IMC data of test samples and controls were analyzed with the Mann–Whitney U test. A p<0.05 was considered statistically significant. The results of live/dead staining and CFU methods were made comparable by calculating the viable cell counts in each of the treated samples, dividing by the viable cell counts for untreated control samples and multiplying by 100% (vitality %). These results were analyzed with statistical software^{§§} using the Kruskal-Wallis analysis of variance. The correlation coefficient between live/dead staining and conventional culturing was determined using Pearson's product-moment correlation coefficient.

Results

MICs/MBCs determined for S. sanguinis, F. nucleatum, and P. gingivalis according to

CLSI protocol and using IMC are presented in Table 1 and 2, respectively. IMC showed that the growth of both adherent single strains in liquid media was delayed but not eliminated by solutions at the concentration of 1x MIC and metronidazole at 10x MIC. All solutions in higher concentrations were able to delay growth or eliminate it over the whole measurement period. For *S. sanguinis* 1x MIC amoxicillin, 10x MIC metronidazole and 1x MIC of the combination resulted in significant decrease in the growth rate and increase in the lag phase (p<0.05). The lag time for *P. gingivalis* was also significantly increased in all samples where growth was detected (p<0.05). However, the growth rate was only minimally affected by the treatment resulting in statistically not significant difference (p>0.05). The continuous recordings of IMC (Table 2) corresponded to the MIC values determined after 24 h exposure using the CLSI protocol (Table 1).

Conventional culturing revealed low viability percentages of *S. sanguinis* after amoxicillin treatment, with the exception of 1x MIC, which exhibited no reduction in viability compared to the control (Fig. 2A). Significant differences were observed in groups treated with amoxicillin and the combination of the two antibiotics (p<0.05) (Fig. 2A, C). The highest efficacy was detected for metronidazole, for which concentrations reduced the viability < 1% (Fig. 2B). The treatment of adherent *P. gingivalis* cells with amoxicillin or the combination of both antibiotics returned similar results (Fig. 2D, E). Again, metronidazole yielded a slightly higher efficacy (Fig. 2E). In comparison, live/dead staining detected an increased antibiotic efficacy only with 50x and 100x MICs of metronidazole (Fig. 2B, Fig 3). Although a statistically significant difference was measured between other groups (Fig. 2A, C-F), the marginal reduction in viability is questionable from a biological perspective. The Pearson correlation coefficient (0.31) revealed poor correlation between the two methods.

Monitoring the growth of the three-species biofilm at the interface between titanium disk

and solid medium IMC revealed that the MIC values for *S. sanguinis* (the highest values of the three species) used to test the susceptibility of the three-species biofilm in this study inhibited growth over 10 d. Therefore, concentrations corresponding to 0.25x and 0.5x MICs of antibiotics were also applied to get a better representation of the dose response. All biofilm samples, except for the 0.25x MIC of amoxicillin and metronidazole, exhibited prolonged lag phases in comparison to the control (p<0.05). The maximum growth rate was significantly lower for samples treated with amoxicillin and metronidazole than for control samples (p<0.05), and using the combination of the single-species experiments where the liquid culture allows some planktonic growth, here the low growth rates indicate that only biofilm growth was observed. The results are summarized in Table 3.

Discussion

The mechanism of action of adjuvant antibiotic therapy in the treatment of periimplantitis is not well understood. In this study, the antibiotic efficacy against an *in vitro* three-species biofilm model on titanium disks was investigated by isothermal microcalorimetry (IMC). Amoxicillin, metronidazole and their combination were used to evaluate the antibiotic susceptibility of the biofilm. The MICs for all antibiotic solutions used were obtained for each of the three species present in the biofilm: *S. sanguinis, F. nucleatum* and *P. gingivalis*. In comparison to the maximum dosages of amoxicillin (3-4 μ g/mL) and metronidazole (8-10 μ g/mL) attainable in human plasma, the detected MIC values were lower for both strains, with only one exception: the MIC for metronidazole against *S. sanguinis,* was markedly higher (>128 μ g/mL). However, when used in combination with amoxicillin, a synergistic mode of action for these agents was detected, as the MIC value for metronidazole was reduced to 0.4 μ g/mL.

IMC detects heat-flow, which is a measure of the metabolic activities of all bacteria present at a given time; thus reductions in heat-flow were observed in the presence of antimicrobial agents. The main advantage of IMC over other approaches is the quantitative measurements of the effects of the antimicrobials on parameters such as the growth rate and lag phase of the bacteria. Results showed that amoxicillin alone was always found more efficient in prolonging the bacterial lag phase in biofilms than metronidazole alone and demonstrated comparable results to the combination of antibiotics used. Similar results were detected for the single-species tested in this study. IMC provides knowledge on the nature of the dose response. A prolonged lag phase indicates bactericidal activity of the antimicrobial agent; a portion of the inoculum is killed, the growth rate is not affected or is only minimally affected. In contrast, a bacteriostatic agent interferes with cellular processes, and the increase in the lag phase duration is directly linked to a decrease in growth rate. 27, 30 Amoxicillin and metronidazole are both reported to be bactericidal. In experiments on treated adherent S. sanguinis, all three IMC parameters were affected. The inoculum was partially killed, resulting in a prolonged the lag time and in a reduced the growth rate, while no such effect was observed in the control samples. In experiments on adherent P. gingivalis and three-species biofilms, the same tendency was observed, although the growth rate remained mostly unchanged. Interestingly, when used alone, both antibiotics decreased the maximum growth rate of the biofilm but had a smaller effect on prolonging the lag phase, while biofilm samples treated with the combination of the two exhibited growth rates close to the control but more efficiently delayed growth. Thus, when applied alone, the antibiotics seem to work primarily through bacteriostatic effects; when combined, the efficacy is increased by their synergistic bactericidal action. Moreover, this finding demonstrates that the effects cannot be strictly divided into bacteriostatic and bactericidal, as the results here indicate that the effect seems to be dependent on their concentration and combination and the nature of targeted cells. ^{27, 30} Additionally, this finding suggests that IMC should be considered for testing the effect of antimicrobial agents in general as the method proposes the possibility of efficiently studying material *in situ* for its susceptibility or resistance to any antibiotic solution without disturbing the complex structure of biofilms.

To relate the results reported in this study to previous investigations, live/dead staining and conventional culturing were used to test antibiotic susceptibility of adherent S. sanguinis and P. gingivalis cells to demonstrate a possible correlation between the two methods in viability rates in treated samples. ^{14, 34} Due to its poor capacity for attaching to surfaces when used as a single-species inoculum, adherent F. nucleatum ATCC10953 was not evaluated in this study. Both methods are commonly used in experiments on antibiotic susceptibility testing in vitro.^{8, 16-20} However, poor correlation between the two methods was detected by the antibiotic susceptibility testing of adherent cells. Conventional culturing detects only bacteria that initiate cell division, and exposure to environmental stress factors (i.e., antimicrobials) makes them more sensitive to other culture conditions (i.e., temperature, the presence of oxygen and the duration of incubation). Additionally, live/dead staining is based only on the permeability of the cell membrane to specific chemicals; if the mechanisms of action of the antibiotics do not directly damage the cell wall, the data obtained by the staining method remain questionable. Moreover, a population of cells that are VBNC leads to possible under- or overestimation of cell counts, which may carry the potential for (re)infection. 14, 34, 36 Thus, using culturing or live/dead staining to present definitive answers on the antibiotic susceptibility of adherent cells should be used with great caution.

In conclusion, the combination of both antibiotics was more efficient than metronidazole

alone. However, only minor differences in growth inhibition compared to amoxicillin alone were detected. IMC appears to be more sensitive than live/dead staining and conventional culturing, providing insights into the effect of the antimicrobials through the data obtained on their influence on the growth rates and lag phases of biofilms and adherent microorganisms.

Footnotes

BBLTM, Becton Dickinson, Basel, Switzerland

[¶]Microbank® blue Chemie Brunschwig AG, Basel, Switzerland

 $^{\#}$ MACS MG, Don Whitley Scientific Ltd; atmosphere of 80% $N_2,\,10\%$ H_2 and 10% CO_2; at 37°C

** mean roughness of 120 nm, 5 mm diameter, 1 mm thickness, commercial pure

titanium grade 2, ASTM F-67; Straumann AG, Basel, Switzerland

^{††} Columbia agar, BBLTM, Becton Dickinson, Basel, Switzerland

^{‡‡} TAM 48, TA Instruments, New Castle, DE, USA

^{§§} Stata Statistical Software, release 10; StataCorp, College Station, TX, USA

II Live/Dead BacLightTM bacterial Viability Kit; MoBiTec, Luzern, Switzerland

[¶] Analysis program, Provis AX70, Olympus AG, Volketswil, Switzerland

22.5 W; Vibracell, Sonics & Materials, Newtown, CT

*** R software, Package version 2.15.2, R Development Core Team, Vienna, Austria.

^{†††} The maximum growth rate (1/h), lag time (h) and concentration (CFU/mL) of

surviving bacteria (t = 0) in the samples where growth was detected throughout the measurement period (n = 6).

Acknowledgement

The authors wish to thank the anonymous reviewers who critically read this paper and greatly contributed to improve the original manuscript. The authors report no conflicts of interest related to this study.

References

1. Haffajee AD, Teles RP, Socransky SS. The effect of periodontal therapy on the composition of the subgingival microbiota. *Periodontol 2000* 2006;42:219-258.

2. Teles RP, Haffajee AD, Socransky SS. Microbiological goals of periodontal therapy. *Periodontol 2000* 2006;42:180-218.

3. Albrektsson T, Isidor F. Consensus report of session IV. In: Lang NP, Karring T, eds. *Proceedings of the 1st European Workshop on Periodontology*. London, Berlin: Quintessence Publishing Company, 1993: 365-369

4. van Winkelhoff AJ, Rodenburg JP, Goene RJ, Abbas F, Winkel EG, de Graaff J. Metronidazole plus amoxycillin in the treatment of *Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans* associated periodontitis. *J Clin Periodontol* 1989;16:128-131.

5. van Winkelhoff AJ, Tijhof CJ, de Graaff J. Microbiological and clinical results of metronidazole plus amoxicillin therapy in *Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans*-associated periodontitis. *J Periodontol* 1992;63:52-57.

6. Winkel EG, van Winkelhoff AJ, Timmerman MF, Van der Velden U, Van der Weijden GA. Metronidazole plus amoxicillin in the treatment of adult periodontitis: A double-blind placebo-controlled study. *J Clin Periodontol* 2001;28:296-305.

7. Guerrero A, Griffiths GS, Nibali L, et al. Adjunctive benefits of systemic amoxicillin and metronidazole in non-surgical treatment of generalized aggressive periodontitis: A randomized placebo-controlled clinical trial. *J Clin Periodontol* 2005;32:1096-1107.

8. Walter C, Kulik EM, Weiger R, Zitzmann NU, Waltimo T. Additive or synergistic antimicrobial effects of amoxicillin and metronidazole on whole plaque samples: a preliminary report. *J Int Acad Periodontol* 2011;13:11-16.

9. Heitz-Mayfield LJ, Salvi GE, Mombelli A, Faddy M, Lang NP. Anti-infective surgical therapy of peri-implantitis. A 12-month prospective clinical study. *Clinical oral implants research* 2012;23:205-210.

10. Wohlfahrt JC, Lyngstadaas SP, Rønold HJ, et al. Porous titanium granules in the

surgical treatment of peri-implant osseous defects: a randomized clinical trial. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants* 2012; 27:401-410.

11. Persson LG, Mouhyi J, Berglundh T, Sennerby L, Lindhe J. Carbon dioxide laser and hydrogen peroxide conditioning in the treatment of periimplantitis: an experimental study in the dog. *Clin Implant Dent Relat Res* 2004;6:230-238.

12. Gilbert P, Maira-Litran T, McBain AJ, Rickard AH, Whyte FW. The physiology and collective recalcitrance of microbial biofilm communities. *Adv Microbial Physiol* 2002;46:203-256.

13. Høiby N, Bjarnsholt T, Givskov M, Molin S, Ciofu O. Antibiotic resistance of bacterial biofilms. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* 2010;35:322-332.

14. Stewart PS, Franklin MJ. Physiological heterogeneity in biofilms. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2008;6:199-210.

 Krayer JW, Leite RS, Kirkwood KL. Non-surgical chemotherapeutic treatment strategies for the management of periodontal diseases. *Dent Clin North Am* 2010;54:13-33.

16. Mouratidou A, Karbach J, d'Hoedt B, Al-Nawas B. Antibiotic susceptibility of cocultures in polymicrobial infections such as peri-implantitis or periodontitis: an *in vitro* model. *J Periodontol* 2011;82:1360-1366.

17. Skucaite N, Peciuliene V, Vitkauskiene A, Machiulskiene V. Susceptibility of endodontic pathogens to antibiotics in patients with symptomatic apical periodontitis. *J Endod* 2010;36:1611-1616.

18. Ito A, Taniuchi A, May T, Kawata K, Okabe S. Increased antibiotic resistance of *Escherichia coli* in mature biofilms. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2009;75:4093-4100.

19. Huang Q, Yu HJ, Liu GD, et al. Comparison of the effects of human β -defensin 3, vancomycin, and clindamycin on *Staphylococcus aureus* biofilm formation. *Orthopedics* 2012;35:e53-60.

20. Nguyen AH, Kim S, Maloney WJ, Wenke JC, Yang Y. Effect of coadministration of vancomycin and BMP-2 on cocultured *Staphylococcus aureus* and W-20-17 mouse

bone marrow stromal cells in vitro. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2012;56:3776-3784.

21. Baldoni D, Hermann H, Frei R, Trampuz A, Steinhuber A. Performance of microcalorimetry for early detection of methicillin resistance in clinical isolates of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *J Clin Microbiol* 2009;47:774-776.

22. Braissant O, Wirz D, Goepfert B, Daniels AU. Use of isothermal microcalorimetry to monitor microbial activities. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 2010;303:1-8.

23. Trampuz A, Steinhuber A, Wittwer M, Leib SL. Rapid diagnosis of experimental meningitis by bacterial heat production in cerebrospinal fluid. *BMC Infect Dis* 2007;10:116.

24. Kabanova N, Stulova I, Vilu R. Microcalorimetric study of the growth of bacterial colonies of *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403 in agar gels. *Food Microbiol* 2012;29:67-79.

25. Mihhalevski A, Sarand I, Viiard E, Salumets A, Paalme T. Growth characterization of individual rye sourdough bacteria by isothermal microcalorimetry. *J Appl Microbiol* 2011;110:529-540.

26. Astasov-Frauenhoffer M, Braissant O, Hauser-Gerspach I, Daniels AU, Weiger R, Waltimo T. Isothermal microcalorimetry provides new insights into biofilm variability and dynamics. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 2012;337:31-37.

27. von Ah U, Wirz D, Daniels AU. Rapid differentiation of methicillin-susceptible *Staphylococcus aureus* from methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* and MIC determinations by isothermal microcalorimetry. *J Clin Microbiol* 2008;46:2083-2087.

28. Furustrand Tafin U, Majic I, Zalila Belkhodja C, et al. Gentamicin improves the activities of daptomycin and vancomycin against *Enterococcus faecalis in vitro* and in an experimental foreign-body infection model. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2011;55:4821-4827.

29. Furustrand Tafin U, Clauss M, Hauser PM, Bille J, Meis JF, Trampuz A. Isothermal microcalorimetry: a novel method for real-time determination of antifungal susceptibility of *Aspergillus* species. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2012;18:E241-245.

30. Howell M, Wirz D, Daniels AU, Braissant O. Application of a microcalorimetric

method for determining drug susceptibility in mycobacterium species. *J Clin Microbiol* 2012;50:16-20.

31. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. Methods for determining bactericidal activity of antimicrobial agents; approved guideline, CLSI protocol M26-A. Wayne, PA, USA, 1999.

 Stephens G. Microbiology: Breaking down biofilms. *Curr Biol* 2002;12:R132-134.

33. Cho SB, Nakanishi K, Soga N, et al. Defence of apatite formation on silica gel on its structure: Effect of heat treatment. *J Am Ceram Soc* 1995;78:1769-1774.

34. Astasov-Frauenhoffer M, Braissant O, Hauser-Gerspach I, et al. Quantification of vital adherent *Streptococcus sanguinis* cells on protein-coated titanium after disinfectant treatment. *J Mater Sci Mater Med* 2011;22:2045-2051.

35. Braissant O, Bonkat G, Wirz D, Bachmann A. Microbial growth and isothermal microcalorimetry: Growth models and their application to microcalorimetric data. *Thermochim Acta* 2013;555:64-71

36. Shen Y, Stojicic S, Haapasalo M. Bacterial viability in starved and revitalized biofilms: comparison of viability staining and direct culture. *J Endod* 2010;36:1820-1823.

Figure legends

Fig. 1. Example of data recorded by IMC and parameters calculated during the growth of three-species biofilm on solid medium over the first 48 h. A) Raw data showing the heat-flow. The maximum metabolic activity of the biofilm is reached when the curve reaches its maximum. B) Integrated data showing the heat produced over time (black line) and fitted Gompertz model (red line). This curve is used to determine the maximum growth rate (i.e., the maximum slope of the curve) and the duration of the lag phase (the intercept between a tangent to the maximum slope point and the y axis at 0) by fitting the Gompertz growth model to heat data.

Fig. 2. Results of live/dead staining (white bars) and conventional culturing (grey bars) of adherent *S. sanguinis* and *P. gingivalis* presented by mean values and standard deviations (n=9).

Fig. 3. Vitality of adherent *S. sanguinis* detected by live/dead staining after 24h of treatment with various concentrations of metronidazole (B)-(E). Cells appearing green are alive, red indicates dead cells. (A) untreated control sample, (B) 1x MIC, (C) 10x MIC, (D) 50x MIC, (E) 100x MIC.

Tables

Table 1. Minimal inhibitory and bactericidal concentrations ($\mu g/mL$) determined

	Amoxicillin		Metronidazole		Amoxicillin/metronidazole	
Bacterial strain	MIC	MBC	MIC	MBC	MIC	MBC
S. sanguinis	0.5	2 - 4	> 128	> 128	0.6/0.4	1.2/0.8
F. nucleatum	0.125	0.25 - 2	< 0.06	0.5	0.075/0.05	0.3/0.2
P. gingivalis	< 0.06	0.25	0.125	0.125	0.038/0.025	0.15/0.1

according to CLSI protocol M26-A.³¹

Table 2. Parameters calculated from IMC data of the treated adherent cells.^{\dagger tt</sub>}

	S. sar	iguinis DSM 200	168	P. gin	givalis DSM 20'	602
Parameters	maximum growth rate $(1/h)$	lag time (h)	concentration (CFU/mL)	maximum growth rate (1/h)	lag time (h)	concentration (CFU/mL)
Control	0.463 ± 0.256	5.9 ± 0.4	$1.29x10^5 \pm 5.85x10^4$	0.173 ± 0.026	22.1 ± 3.9	$5.64 \text{x} 10^6 \pm 2.96 \text{x} 10^6$
1x MIC amoxicillin	0.2	41.1	ND	0.178 ± 0.015	119.0 ± 8.2	$1.77x10^{1} \pm 1.59x10^{1}$
1x MIC metronidazole	0.196 ± 0.019	8.7 ± 2.6	$1.97 \mathrm{x} 10^4 \pm 2.67 \mathrm{x} 10^4$	0.169 ± 0.002	38 ± 8.1	$8.43x10^5 \pm 7.05x10^5$
10x MIC metronidazole	0.122 ± 0.013	30.5 ± 0.6	ND	0.128 ± 0.062	134.2 ± 6.9	$2.06x10^0 \pm 1.31x10^0$
1x MIC amoxicillin/metronidazole	0.049 ± 0.007	68.9 ± 14.5	ND	0.145 ± 0.017	64.0 ± 28.0	$1.09x10^5 \pm 9.56x10^4$

Table 3. Maximum growth rate (1/h) and lag time (h) calculated for samples of the *in vitro* three-species biofilm treated with antibiotics that revealed metabolic activity over 10 d (n = 6).

	Amoxicillin		Metronidazole		Amoxicillin/metronidazole	
Parameters	maximum growth rate (1/h)	lag time (h)	maximum growth rate (1/h)	lag time (h)	maximum growth rate (1/h)	lag time (h)
Control	0.046 ± 0.035	17.0 ± 3.7	0.046 ± 0.035	17.0 ± 3.7	0.046 ± 0.035	17.0 ± 3.7
0.25x MIC	0.007 ± 0.002	17.5 ± 8.9	0.008 ± 0.006	18.0 ± 3.0	0.06 ± 0.02	23.0 ± 4.7
0.5x MIC	0.005 ± 0.002	35.0 ± 10.1	0.009 ± 0.006	29.2 ± 8.7	0.03 ± 0.003	31.2 ± 2.3
1x MIC	no growth		0.007 ± 0.005	34.7 ± 15.5	no growth	

Figure 1



Time in hours

Figure 2





7 Discussion

Modelling of any oral biofilm in vitro is challenging as up to 700 species have been identified in saliva and on various surfaces of the oral cavity. Most sites yield 20 - 30different predominant species and number of species per individual range from 32 to 72 (Aas, et al., 2005, Marsh, et al., 2011). Thus, numerous models have been created to answer various specific questions concerning adherent oral microbiota. Different single- or multi-species models have been created to study changes in gene expression patterns in comparison to planktonic growth (Dû & Kolenbrander, 2000, Li & Burne, 2001, Svensäter, et al., 2001, Welin, et al., 2004, Kuboniwa, et al., 2009, Lo, et al., 2009), to study adherence to biomaterials (Hauser-Gerspach, et al., 2007, 2008, Meier, et al., 2008) and/or to test methods to clean the surfaces (Verkaik, et al., 2010) as well as to test antimicrobial efficacy of treatments including antibiotics or disinfectants (Larsen, 2002, Shapiro, et al., 2002, Busscher, et al., 2008, Kim, et al., 2008, Shen, et al., 2011, Ordinola-Zapata, et al., 2013). In this study, an anaerobic flow chamber model was used to study microbial adherence with the aim of developing a three-species biofilm including peri-implantitis pathogens. Furthermore, single species were allowed to adhere on a titanium surface to examine the efficiency of disinfectant and antibiotic treatment protocols. The vitality in antimicrobial treated cells was detected by commonly used Live/dead Baclight kit and by conventional culturing; additionally, a novel method in oral biofilm research, IMC, was used to assess vitality of adherent microorganisms and bacteria in biofilms based on their metabolic activity levels.

Anaerobic flow chamber model for bacterial adherence

The flow chamber used in this study has been applied in earlier work to evaluate initial bacterial adherence on different restorative materials (Weiger, *et al.*, 1999, Hauser-Gerspach, *et al.*, 2007, 2008, Meier, *et al.*, 2008) as well as to assess the efficacy of disinfectant treatment on adherent streptococci (Decker, *et al.*, 2003, 2003, Decker, *et al.*, 2008). Until now, no studies have reported the use of anaerobic pathogens in this model system; thus here, not only the adherence of facultative anaerobic species *S. sanguinis* was evaluated, but also that of strict anaerobic bacteria present in the microflora of peri-implantitis, namely *F. nucleatum* and *P. gingivalis*.

The adherence of bacteria was observed on protein-coated surface as upon insertion to

oral cavity, materials are covered with a proteinaceous layer termed pellicle. The layer includes different absorbed proteins, such as enzymes, glucoproteins and other macromolecules and mediates interactions between the surface of the material, oral fluids and microorganisms (Lendenmann, *et al.*, 2000, Hannig, *et al.*, 2005, Hannig & Joiner, 2006). Additionally, the bacteria were suspended in reduced nutrient conditions in simulated body fluid (Cho, *et al.*, 1995). These conditions were to mimic the physiological situation found in the oral cavity surrounding the implant, and were to promote adherence rather than to support the growth of the planktonic circulating bacteria. In all single species studies, the bacteria were allowed to adhere to the surface for 2 h as that is considered the time the cells need to attach to the surface via adhesin receptors/glycoproteins bindings (Welin, *et al.*, 2004, Hannig & Joiner, 2006, Hannig & Hannig, 2009).

Live/dead staining and conventional culturing in antimicrobial susceptibility testing of adherent single species

The anaerobic flow-chamber model proved to be an efficient tool allowing the study of specimens for microbial adherence in vitro. An adherent single-species model was used to answer two questions: firstly, how efficient are different treatment protocols of disinfectants and secondly, are there discrepancies between the results revealed by different vitality detection methods. Thus, disinfectant treatment on adherent S. sanguinis was applied (Chapter 4). Chlorhexidine has been for many years the standard in oral infection control, however, three other disinfectants (povidone-iodine, octenidine dihydrochloride, polyhexanide, respectively) showed comparable efficacy against the adherent microorganism as reported also in other studies (Rohrer, et al., 2010, Tirali, et al., 2012, de Lucena, et al., 2013). Interestingly, the alternative agents showed high efficacy even when diluted down to 1/8 of the original solution while the same was not observed for chlorhexidine. Nevertheless, it must be noted, that the interpretation of the results is difficult (Shen, et al., 2011). Major discrepancies were identified: the staining by live/dead kit detected high levels of vital cells in several groups of povidone-iodine and chlorhexidine treated samples; however, much lower levels of vitality were observed by conventional culturing. And although the results between the two methods correlate quite well (Pearson coefficient 0.6), the biological significance of those discrepancies is unclear. The disagreement between the methods is likely due to the VBNC population of cells that are no longer cultivable because of their low levels of metabolic activity, but they are detectable by staining combined with microscopic methods (Oliver, 2010). The determination of the vitality of adherent microorganisms by conventional culturing requires their re-suspension prior to cultivation and subsequent quantification of colony-forming units. Several factors – such as physical damage to the cells by re-suspension or lack of growth due to suboptimal culture conditions – may cause the culture method to yield partially false negative results. Additionally, in the case of povidone-iodine, which is based on an iodide complex, the interference with the propidium iodide in the staining step cannot be excluded and therefore, it might be considered as a confounding factor that possibly reduces the percentage of dead cells correctly stained. Thus, the suitability of the staining protocol needs to be evaluated for each testing system to make sure no cells are mistakenly counted or double-labelled as other investigators have proposed for flow cytometry (Stocks, 2004, Berney, *et al.*, 2007). Moreover, no definite conclusion can be drawn by these methods as over- or underestimation of potential infectious cells can take place.

In order to verify the data on the problems of vitality detection and to compare these findings to previously published data (Chapter 4), (Shen, *et al.*, 2010), the vitality of adherent single species of *S. sanguinis* and *P. gingivalis* after antibiotic treatment was also assessed by vitality staining and conventional culturing (Chapter 6). Interestingly, although *P. gingivalis* is considered a late colonizer, it was able to adhere and form a monolayer on protein-coated surface in the absence of other bacteria, whereas *F. nucleatum* was not able to adhere in monoculture. Thus, the antibiotic susceptibility of adherent *F. nucleatum* as single species could not be studied.

Antibiotic concentrations up to 100x higher than the minimal inhibitory concentrations (MICs) for planktonic cells were applied, as adherent bacteria are known for their increased antimicrobial tolerance (Gilbert, *et al.*, 2002). However, it was kept in mind that such high concentrations used here could never be reached in human plasma; thus, the study design was to illustrate through the increased tolerance the difficulties of detecting the level of efficacy.

Possible reasons for discrepancies between staining and culturing were discussed earlier. In the case of antibiotic treatment, the correlation between the two methods was found poor using of both *S. sanguinis* and *P. gingivalis* species (Pearson

correlation coefficient 0.3). This can be attributed to the reasons mentioned above (VBNC cells, difficulties in cultivation), but also to the nature of the dose response. Unlike disinfectants that are mostly bactericidal, the antibiotics may act through bacteriostatic effects, thereby making the results of live/dead staining unreliable as the method is based solely on the destruction or integrity of the cell wall. In addition, the re-suspension of cells for conventional culturing can lead to false negative results, so discrepancies between the two methods are not surprising in this type of experiment. Therefore, conclusions based on only one of these methods when it comes to antimicrobial susceptibility testing should be handled with caution.

Thus, IMC was applied as a third method to provide real time information about the lag time and growth rate of bacteria and how the antimicrobial effect affects these parameters (Buchholz, *et al.*, 2010, Braissant, *et al.*, 2013).

IMC analysis of antimicrobial effect on adherent single species

IMC detects heat-flow from all metabolic processes that are present in any living cells. The principle of the method is that all living systems produce heat and heat evolution can always be measured calorimetrically without any interference with the processes. In other words, IMC measures heat production or consumption, which is proportional to the rate at which any given chemical, physical or biological process is taking place (i.e., metabolic heat from bacterial growth). However, it must be noted that the detected heat-flow signal is non-specific and can be only handled as net signal related to the sum of all processes (Wadsö, 2002). Thus, the main challenge of the method is the translation of the data into useful microbiological data (Braissant, et al., 2013). Therefore, series of calibration experiments with known starting inoculums were completed to be able to relate measured microcalorimetric parameters to bacterial concentrations (CFU/ml) and to estimate inoculums of treated samples in following experiments. Here, no difference in comparison to controls in growth rates or amount of total heat produced over the first 48 h was observed in all disinfectant treated samples where growth was detected. Even in samples that had less than 300 CFU/ml in the beginning, up to 100x more bacteria were present in the control. However, the growth was detected in a lower number of samples by this method compared to the vitality staining and conventional culturing; this allows us to believe that, even though the treated samples are provided with the conditions for resuscitation, not all cells detected to be VBNC by staining were able to switch

themselves back to high metabolic activity. Thus, to avoid the issue with VBNC cells and the discrepancies between staining and conventional culturing, the IMC provides a novel and reliable approach that observes bacterial growth of all the cells that are able to resuscitate after disinfectant treatment and thereby may have a potential to the expression of the virulence factors in the colonized sites.

As IMC allows real time monitoring of the metabolic activity, unlike end-point determinations, the influence of amoxicillin, metronidazole and their combination on lag time and growth rates of adherent single species was observed. Additionally, previous studies have suggested that not only is the IMC useful for determining minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC), but also provides knowledge on the dose response, whether the effect of an antimicrobial is bacteriostatic or bacteriocidal (von Ah, *et al.*, 2008, Howell, *et al.*, 2012). The principle is that a bactericidal agent kills a proportion of the inoculum, thus an increase in lag phase is observed, but growth rate is not or only minimally affected. In case of a bacteriostatic agent, cellular processes are influenced and the decrease in growth rate can be linked to the prolonged lag phase.

Amoxicillin and metronidazole are both considered to be bactericidal. In experiments where adherent *S. sanguinis* was exposed to antibiotics, it was observed that the inoculum was partially killed, resulting in a prolonged lag time and in a reduced growth rate compared to the control samples. The same tendency was detected in experiments on adherent *P. gingivalis*, however the growth rate was only minimally affected. This indicates that the effects of antibiotics cannot be strictly divided into bacteriostatic and bactericidal, as the results here imply that the effect seems to be dependent on their concentration and combination plus the nature of targeted cells. Thus, IMC is a useful tool to study also new drugs, whose antimicrobial effect is unclear. Furthermore, IMC allows monitoring of the effect in real time unlike vitality

Three-species biofilm model and its antibiotic susceptibility

In order to study antimicrobial efficacy on a more complex system, a 72-hour biofilm model was created (Chapter 5). The biofilm includes *S. sanguinis*, *F. nucelatum* and *P. gingivalis* that were also allowed to adhere on protein-coated surface in the same low nutrient system as the single species in the previous models. Modelling the

staining or conventional culturing that are based on end-point determinations.

biofilm formation included series of experiments where all three species were allowed to adhere subsequent to each other over different time intervals (data not presented). However, no substantial differences were detected by microscopic analysis to the current model where all three species in mixed solution are allowed to adhere at the same time. Thus, no pattern of letting first early and then late colonizers adhere was applied and behaviour found in the oral cavity was mimicked, as bacteria there are also always present in a mixture.

Streptococci are known to decrease the pH of the environment to make it more suitable for them (Marsh, 2010). In order to promote the adherence of F. nucelatum and P. gingivalis rather than to prefer only S. sanguinis in the solution, the bacterial suspension was renewed in 24 h intervals. Surprisingly, as the bacteria were allowed to adhere on the surface over 72 h, the fluorescence in situ hybridisation of 16S rRNA of the bacteria showed that the species always adhered with similar proportions throughout experiments. This is in agreement with data published earlier as well as with new findings for batch-culture-based models (Thurnheer, et al., 2004, Ammann, et al., 2012). Despite the detailed reports on the structure of the biofilms, these studies provide no information on how the biofilms act on their metabolic activity patterns. Even when such stability in the proportions and structure was found in our experimental biofilm, they still revealed high heterogeneity by IMC. Only the time the biofilms needed to reach their heat-peak-flow varied slightly and that can be attributed to the fact that not such a high variance was found in the total count of bacteria or in the proportions of the species. However, all other parameters calculated from the data demonstrated high variance, supporting Stewart & Franklin (2008) that bacteria in biofilms not only act differently from their behaviour from planktonic cultures but also show intra-species differences within the same biofilm.

The main advantage of IMC in this study was that the structure of the biofilm was not disturbed. This offered the opportunity to observe how an intact biofilm acts as an entity when exposed to antibiotics (Chapter 6). Little is known about the clinical efficacy of adjuvant antibiotic therapy in peri-implantitis treatment on biofilms (van Winkelhoff, 2012), thus the most frequently used antibiotics: amoxicillin, metronidazole and their combination were tested by IMC.

Biofilms are well known for increased antibiotic tolerance, thus firstly the MIC for planktonic forms of the species present in the biofilm were determined and multiplications of those up to 100x were applied on the biofilm. Here, the antibiotic

efficacy was monitored only by IMC as the other commonly used vitality detection methods provide results that are difficult to interpret due to their limitations (Chapter 4), (Shen, *et al.*, 2010). Heat-flow profiles of biofilms exposed to antibiotics were followed up to 10 days to observe how the lag time and growth rate are affected. The growth rate that was found was lower than that of planktonically grown cultures, which leads us to believe that the incubation of the biofilm on agar created a system where the results are not interrupted by growth of free colonies that was observed in single species cultured in liquid media.

Interestingly, IMC revealed that the MIC values for *S. sanguinis* (the highest values of the three species) used to test the susceptibility of the three-species biofilm in this study inhibited growth over 10 d. That indicates that adherent *S. sanguinis* behaves differently in the presence of other bacteria and even its antibiotic susceptibility is affected. Results showed that amoxicillin alone was always found to be more efficient in prolonging the bacterial lag phase in biofilms than metronidazole alone and demonstrated comparable results to the combination of antibiotics used. In samples of treated three-species biofilms, prolonged lag phase was observed. However, the growth rate remained mostly unchanged. Interestingly, when used alone, both antibiotics decreased the maximum growth rate of the biofilm but had a smaller effect on prolonging the lag phase, while biofilm samples treated with the combination of the two exhibited growth rates close to the control but more efficiently delayed growth. Thus, when applied alone, antibiotics seem to work primarily through bacteriostatic effects; when combined, the efficacy is increased by their synergistic bactericidal action.

IMC proves to be an efficient way to study antibiotic susceptibility. Furthermore, when the model system excludes the growth of planktonic cultures it is still sensitive enough to detect the low levels of metabolic activity of treated samples.

8 Conclusions

In conclusion, this study emphasizes the need to critically evaluate the results of live/dead staining and conventional culturing as many aspects can affect the outcome of these methods leading to miscalculations on the proportion of cells that are able to resuscitate and lead to reinfection on treated sites. Furthermore, the downside of both of the methods is that they are based on end-point determinations of antimicrobial effects and little can be observed about the mode of action of the antimicrobials.

Thus, micro-calorimetric analysis provides a novel alternative approach in oral biofilm research that allows monitoring the efficacy and dynamics of biofilms and their antimicrobial susceptibility *in vitro*. The sensitivity of the method detects also intact biofilms at very low metabolic activity.

Furthermore, through the modifications to the anaerobic flow chamber modelling system, a multi-species biofilm model was created and validated in this study. The structure of the biofilm and presence of all three species was successfully determined by microscopic analysis. IMC allowed observation of the heterogeneity of the biofilms even when microscopically no structural differences were detected.

This multispecies biofilm model proposes an alternative to batch-culture-based models to estimate the initial bacterial colonization and biofilm formation of different implant materials and to test antimicrobial efficacy of new agents.

References

Aas JA, Paster BJ, Stokes LN, Olsen I & Dewhirst FE (2005) Defining the normal bacterial flora of the oral cavity. *J Clin Microbiol* **43**: 5721-5732.

Al-Ahmad A, Follo M, Selzer A-C, Hellwig E, Hannig M & Hannig G (2009) Bacterial colonization of enamel *in situ* investigated using fluorescence *in situ* hybridization. *J Med Microbiol* **58**: 1359-1366.

Albrektsson T & Isidor F (1993) Consensus report of session IV. (Lang NP & Karring T, eds.), p. 365-369. Quintessence Publishing Company, London, Berlin.

Albrektsson T & Wennerberg A (2004) Oral implant surfaces: Part 1 - review focusing on topographic and chemical properties of different surfaces and *in vivo* responses to them. *Int J Prosthodont* **17**: 536-543.

Alklint C, Wadsö L & Sjöholm I (2005) Accelerated storage and isothermal microcalorimetry as methods of predicting carrot juice shelf-life. *J Sci Food Agric* **85**: 281-285.

Ammann TW, Gmür R & Thurnheer T (2012) Advancement of the 10-species subgingival Zurich biofilm model by examining different nutritional conditions and defining the structure of the *in vitro* biofilms. *BMC Microbiol* **12**: 227.

Aziz A, Parmar D, McNaughton A & Tompkins GR (2010) Bacterial viability determination in a dentinal tubule infection model by confocal laser scanning microscopy. *Methods Mol Biol* 666: 141-150.

Baier RE (2006) Surface behaviour of biomaterials: the theta surface for biocompatibility. *J Mater Sci Mater Med* **17**: 1057-1062.

Baldoni D, Hermann H, Frei R, Trampuz A & Steinhuber A (2009) Performance of microcalorimetry for early detection of methicillin resistance in clinical isolates of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *J Clin Microbiol* **47**: 774-776.

Berney M, Hammes F, Bosshard F, Weilenmann HU & Egli T (2007) Assessment and interpretation of bacterial viability by using the LIVE/DEAD BacLight Kit in combination with flow cytometry. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **73**: 3283-3290.

Braissant O, Wirz D, Goepfert B & Daniels AU (2010) Use of isothermal microcalorimetry to monitor microbial activities. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **303**: 1-8.

Braissant O, Wirz D, Goepfert B & U. DA (2010) Biomedical use of isothermal microcalorimeters. *Sensors* **10**: 9369-9383.

Braissant O, Bonkat G, Wirz D & Bachmann A (2013) Microbial growth and isothermal microcalorimetry: growth models and their application to microcalorimetric data. *Thermochim Acta* in press.

Brändle N, Zehnder M, Weiger R & Waltimo T (2008) Impact of growth conditions on susceptibility of five microbial species to alkaline stress. *J Endod* **34**: 579-582.

Buchholz F, Harms H & Maskow T (2010) Biofilm research using calorimetry - a marriage made in heaven? *Biotechnol J* **5**: 1339-1350.

Busscher HJ & van der Mei HC (2006) Microbial adhesion in flow displacement systems. *Clin Microbiol Rev* **19**: 127-141.

Busscher HJ, Engels E, Dijkstra RJ & van der Mei HC (2008) Influence of a chitosan on oral bacterial adhesion and growth *in vitro*. *Eur J Oral Sci* **116**: 493-495.

Carlén A, Nikdel K, Wennerberg A, Holmberg K & Olsson J (2001) Surface characteristics and in vitro biofilm formation on glass ionomer and composite resin. *Biomaterials* **22**: 481-487.

Cho SB, Nakanishi K, Soga N, Ohtsuki C, Nakamura T, Kitsugi T & Yamamuro T (1995) Defence of apatite formation on silica gel on its structure: Effect of heat treatment. *J Am Ceram Soc* **78**: 1769-1774.

Colombo AP, Boches SK, Cotton SL, *et al.* (2009) Comparisons of subgingival microbial profiles of refractory periodontitis, severe periodontitis, and periodontal health using the human oral microbe identification microarray. *J. Periodontol.* **80**: 1421-1432.

Corbin A, Pitts B, Parker A & Stewart PS (2011) Antimicrobial penetration and efficasy in an *in vitro* oral biofilm model. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **55**: 3338-3344.
Costerton JW, Montanaro L & Arciola CR (2005) Biofilm in implant infections: its production and regulation. *Int J Artif Organs* **28**: 1062-1068.

de Lucena JM, Decker EM, Walter C, Boeira LS, Löst C & Weiger R (2013) Antimicrobial effectiveness of intracanal medicaments on *Enterococcus faecalis*: chlorhexidine versus octenidine. *Int Endod J* **46**: 53-61.

Decker EM, Weiger R, von Ohle C, Wiech I & Brecx M (2003) Susceptibility of planktonic versus attached *Streptococcus sanguinis* cells to chlorhexidine. *Clin. Oral Investig* 7: 98-102.

Decker EM, Weiger R, Wiech I, Heide PE & Brecx M (2003) Comparison of antiadhesive and antibacterial effects of antiseptics on *Streptococcus sanguinis*. *Eur J Oral Sci* **111**: 144-148.

Decker EM, Maier G, Axmann D, Brecx M & von Ohle C (2008) Effect of xylitol/chlorhexidine versus xylitol or chlorhexidine as single rinses on initial biofilm formation of cariogenic *streptococci*. *Quintessence Int* **39**: 17-22.

Diaz PI, Chalmers NI, Rickard AH, Kong C, Milburn CL, Palmer RJJ & Kolenbrander PE (2006) Molecular characterization of subject-specific oral microflora during initial colonization of enamel. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **72**: 2837-2848.

Dige I, Nyengaard JR, Kilian M & Nyvad B (2009) Application of stereological principles for quantification of bacteria in intact dental biofilms. *Oral Microbiol Immunol* **24**: 69-75.

Dû LD & Kolenbrander PE (2000) Identification of saliva-regulated genes of *Streptococcus gordonii* DL1 by differential display using random arbitrarily primed PCR. *Infect Immun* **68**: 4834-4837.

Furustrand Tafin U, Clauss M, Hauser PM, Bille J, Meis JF & Trampuz A (2012) Isothermal microcalorimetry: a novel method for real-time determination of antifungal susceptibility of *Aspergillus* species. *Clin Microbiol Infect* **18**: E241-245.

Furustrand Tafin U, Majic I, Zalila Belkhodja C, Betrisey B, Corvec S, Zimmerli W

73

& Trampuz A (2011) Gentamicin improves the activities of daptomycin and vancomycin against *Enterococcus faecalis in vitro* and in an experimental foreignbody infection model. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **55**: 4821-4827.

Gilbert P, Maira-Litran T, McBain AJ, Rickard AH & Whyte FW (2002) The physiology and collective recalcitrance of microbial biofilm communities. *Adv Microbial Physiol* **46**: 203-256.

Goobes G, Goobes R, Shaw WJ, *et al.* (2008) The structure, dynamics, and energetics of protein adsorption-lessons learned from adsorption of statherin to hydroxyapatite. *Magn Reson Chem* **45**: S32-S47.

Grosgogeat B, Reclaru L, Lissac M & Dalard F (1999) Measurement and evaluation of galvanic corrosion between titanium/Ti6A14V implants and dental alloys by electrochemical techniques and auger spectrometry. *Biomaterials* **20**: 933-941.

Hannig C & Hannig M (2009) The oral cavity - a key system to understand substratum-dependent bioadhesion on solid surfaces in man. *Clin Oral Investig* **13**: 123-139.

Hannig C, Hannig M & Attin T (2005) Enzymes in the acquired enamel pellicle. *Eur J Oral Sci* **113**: 2-13.

Hannig M & Joiner A (2006) The structure, function and properties of the acquired pellicle. *Monogr Oral Sci* **19**: 29-64.

Hasty DL, Ofek I, Courtney HS & Doyle RJ (1992) Multiple adhesins of *streptococci*. *Infect Immun* **60**: 2147-2152.

Hauser-Gerspach I, de Freitas PS, Dan Daniels AU & Meyer J (2008) Adhesion of *Streptococcus sanguinis* to glass surfaces measured by isothermal microcalorimetry (IMC). *J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater* **85**: 42-49.

Hauser-Gerspach I, Kulik EM, Weiger R, Decker EM, Von Ohle C & Meyer J (2007) Adhesion of *Streptococcus sanguinis* to dental implant and restorative materials *in vitro*. *Dent Mater J* **26**: 361-366.

Heitz-Mayfield LJ, Salvi GE, Mombelli A, Faddy M & Lang NP (2012) Anti-

infective surgical therapy of peri-implantitis. A 12-month prospective clinical study. *Clin Oral Implants Res* **23**: 205-210.

Høiby N, Bjarnsholt T, Givskov M, Molin S & Ciofu O (2010) Antibiotic resistance of bacterial biofilms. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* **35**: 322-332.

Howell M, Wirz D, Daniels AU & Braissant O (2012) Application of a microcalorimetric method for determining drug susceptibility in mycobacterium species. *J Clin Microbiol* **50**: 16-20.

Hultin M, Gustafsson A, Hallstrom H, Johansson LA, Ekfeldt A & Klinge B (2002) Microbiological findings and host response in patients with peri-implantitis. *Clin Oral Implants Res* **13**: 349-358.

Kabanova N, Stulova I & Vilu R (2012) Microcalorimetric study of the growth of bacterial colonies of *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403 in agar gels. *Food Microbiol* **29**: 67-79.

Karring ES, Stavropoulos A, Ellegaard B & Karring T (2005) Treatment of periimplantitis by the Vector system. *Clin Oral Implants Res* **16**: 288-293.

Kim J, Pitts B, Stewart PS, Camper A & Yoon J (2008) Comparison of the antimicrobial effects of chlorine, silver ion, and tobramycin on biofilm. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **52**: 1446-1453.

Kolenbrander PE, Andersen RN, Kazmerak KM & Palmer RJ (2000) Coaggregation and coadhesion in oral biofilms.(Allison DG, Gilbert P, Lappin-Scott HM & Wilson M, eds.), p. 65-85. Cambridge University Press, Society for General Microbiology Symposium 59, Cambridge.

Kolenbrander PE, Andersen RN, Blehert DS, Egland PG, Foster JS & Palmer RJ (2002) Communication among oral bacteria. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* **66**: 486-505.

Kong WJ, Zhao YL, Xiao XH, Li ZL & Ren YS (2009) Action of palmatine on *Tetrahymena thermophilia* BF5 growth investigated by microcalorimetry. *J Hazard Mater* **168**: 609-613.

Konradsson K, Claesson R & van Dijken JW (2006) Mutans streptococci and

lactobacilli in plaque on a leucite-reinforced dental ceramic and on a calcium aluminate cement. *Clin Oral Investig* **10**: 175-180.

Kuboniwa M, Hendrickson EL, Xia Q, Wang T, Xie H, Hackett M & Lamont RJ (2009) Proteomics of *Porphyromonas gingivalis* within a model oral microbial community. *BMC Microbiol* **9**: 98.

Larsen T (2002) Susceptibility of *Porphyromonas gingivalis* in biofilms to amoxicillin, doxycycline and metronidazole. *Oral Microbiol Immunol* **17**: 267-271.

Larsen T & Fiehn NE (1996) Resistance of *Steptococcus sanguis* biofilms to antimicrobial agents. *APMIS Section B* **104**: 280-284.

Lendenmann U, Grogan J & Oppenheim FG (2000) Saliva and dental pellicle - a review. *Adv Dent Res* 14: 22-28.

Li Y & Burne RA (2001) Regulation of the *gtfBC* and *ftf* genes of *Streptococcus mutans* in biofilms in response to pH and carbohydrate. *Microbiology* **147**: 2841-2848.

Liu Y & Tay JH (2002) The essential role of hydrodynamic shear forces in the formation of biofilm and granular sludge. *Water Res* **36**: 1653-1665.

Lo AW, Seers CA, Boyce JD, Dashper SG, Slakeski N, Lissel JP & Reynolds EC (2009) Comparative transcriptomic analysis of *Porphyromonas gingivalis* biofilm and planktonic cells. *BMC Microbiol* **9**: 18.

Marsh PD (2006) Dental plaque as a biofilm and a microbial community - implications for health and disease. *BMC Oral Health* **6**: Suppl 1:S14.

Marsh PD (2010) Microbiology of dental plaque biofilms and their role in oral health and caries. *Dent Clin North Am* **54**: 441-454.

Marsh PD, Moter A & Devine DA (2011) Dental plaque biofilms: communities, conflict and control. *Periodontol 2000* **55**: 16-35.

McBain AJ (2009) Chapter 4: *In vitro* biofilm models: an overview. *Adv Appl Microbiol* **69**: 99-132.

Meier R, Hauser-Gerspach I, Lüthy H & Meyer J (2008) Adhesion of oral streptococci to all-ceramics dental restorative materials *in vitro*. *J Mater Sci Mater Med* **19**: 3249-3253.

Mihhalevski A, Sarand I, Viiard E, Salumets A & Paalme T (2011) Growth characterization of individual rye sourdough bacteria by isothermal microcalorimetry. *J Appl Microbiol* **110**: 529-540.

Mombelli A (2002) Microbiology and antimicrobial therapy of peri-implantitis. *Periodontol 2000* **28**: 177-189.

Mombelli A & Mericske-Stern R (1990) Microbiological features of stable osseointegrated implants used as abutments for overdentures. *Clin Oral Implants Res* **1**: 1-7.

Mombelli A & Lang NP (1998) The diagnosis and treatment of peri-implantitis. *Periodontol 2000* **17**: 63-76.

Mombelli A & Décaillet F (2011) The characteristics of biofilms in peri-implant disease. *J Clin Periodontol* **38**: 203-213.

Mombelli A, Buser D & Lang NP (1988) Colonization of osseointegrated titanium implants in edentulous patients. Early results. *Oral Microbiol Immunol* **3**: 113-120.

Mombelli A, Moëne R & Décaillet F (2012) Surgical treatments of peri-implantitis. *Eur J Oral Implantol* **5 Suppl**: S61-70.

Mouratidou A, Karbach J, d'Hoedt B & Al-Nawas B (2011) Antibiotic susceptibility of cocultures in polymicrobial infections such as peri-implantitis or periodontitis: an *in vitro* model. *J. Periodontol.* **82**: 1360-1366.

Norde W (1995) Absorption of proteins at solid-liquid interphases. *Cells Mater* **5**: 97-112.

Oliver JD (2010) Recent findings on the viable but nonculturable state in pathogenic bacteria. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* **34**: 415-425.

Ordinola-Zapata R, Bramante CM, Minotti PG, et al. (2013) Antimicrobial activity of

triantibiotic paste, 2% chlorhexidine gel, and calcium hydroxide on an intraoralinfected dentin biofilm model. *J Endod* **39**: 115-118.

Palmquist A, Omar OM, Esposito M, Lausmaa J & Thomsen P (2010) Titanium oral implants: surface characteristics, interface biology and clinical outcome. *J R Soc Interface* **6**: S515-527.

Percival SL, Hill KE, Williams DW, Hooper SJ, Thomas DW & Costerton JW (2012) A review of the scientific evidence for biofilms in wounds. *Wound Repair Regen* **20**: 647-657.

Persson GR, Salvi GE, Heitz-Mayfield LJ & Lang NP (2006) Antimicrobial therapy using a local drug delivery system (Arestin) in the treatment of peri-implantitis. I: Microbiological outcomes. *Clin Oral Implants Res* **17**: 386-393.

Persson LG, Ericsson I, Berglundh T & Lindhe J (2001) Osseintegration following treatment of peri-implantitis and replacement of implant components. An experimental study in the dog. *J Clin Periodontol* **28**: 258-263.

Persson LG, Berglundh T, Lindhe J & Sennerby L (2001) Re-osseointegration after treatment of peri-implantitis at different implant surfaces. An experimental study in the dog. *Clin Oral Implants Res* **12**: 595-603.

Pier-Francesco A, Adams RJ, Waters MG & Williams DW (2006) Titanium surface modification and its effect on the adherence of *Porphyromonas gingivalis*: an *in vitro* study. *Clin Oral Implants Res* **17**: 633-637.

Pontoriero R, Tonelli MP, Carnevale G, Mombelli A, Nyman SR & Lang NP (1994) Experimentally induced peri-implant mucositis. A clinical study in humans. *Clin Oral Implants Res* **5**: 254-259.

Porras R, Anderson GB, Caffesse R, Narendran S & Trejo PM (2002) Clinical response to 2 different therapeutic regimens to treat peri-implant mucositis. *J. Periodontol.* **73**: 1118-1125.

Pratt-Terpstra IH, Weerkamp AH & Busscher HJ (1989) The effects of pellicle formation on streptococcal adhesion to human enamel and artificial substrata with

various surface free-energies. J Dent Res 68: 463-467.

Quinn A, Mantz H, Jacobs K, Bellion M & Santen L (2006) Protein absorption kinetics in different surface potentials. *Europhysics Lett* **81**: 1-6.

Quirynen M & Bollen CM (1995) The influence of surface roughness and surfacefree energy on supra- and subgingival plaque formation in man. A review of the literature. *J Clin Periodontol* **22**: 1-14.

Quirynen M, De Soete M & van Steenberghe D (1999) Intra-oral plaque formation on artifical surfaces. (Lang NP, Karring T & Lindhe J, eds.), p. 102-129. Quintessence Books, Berlin.

Quirynen M, Gijbels F & Jacobs R (2003) An infected jawbone site compromising successful osseointegration. *Periodontol 2000* **33**: 129-144.

Quirynen M, Marechal M, Busscher HJ, Weerkamp AH, Darius PL & van Steenberghe D (1990) The influence of surface free energy and surface roughness on early plaque formation. An *in vivo* study in man. *J Clin Periodontol* **17**: 138-144.

Rådegran G, Lausmaa J, Mattsson L, Rolander U & Kasemo B (1991) Preparation of ultra-thin oxide windows on titanium for TEM analysis. *J Electron Microsc Tech* **19**: 99-106.

Renvert S, Lessem J, Dahlen G, Lindahl C & Svensson M (2006) Topical minocycline microspheres versus topical chlorhexidine gel as an adjunct to mechanical debridement of incipient peri-implant infections: a randomized clinical trial. *J Clin Periodontol* **33**: 362-369.

Rohrer N, Widmer AF, Waltimo T, Kulik EM, Weiger R, Filipuzzi-Jenny E & Walter C (2010) Antimicrobial efficacy of 3 oral antiseptics containing octenidine, polyhexamethylene biguanide, or Citroxx: can chlorhexidine be replaced? *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* **31**: 733-739.

Romeo E, Lops D, Chiapasco M, Ghisolfi M & Vogel G (2007) Therapy of periimplantitis with resective surgery. A 3-year clinical trial on rough screw-shaped oral implants. Part II: radiographic outcome. *Clin Oral Implants Res* **18**: 179-187. Romeo E, Ghisolfi M, Murgolo N, Chiapasco M, Lops D & Vogel G (2005) Therapy of peri-implantitis with resective surgery. A 3-year clinical trial on rough screw-shaped oral implants. Part I: clinical outcome. *Clin Oral Implants Res* **16**: 9-18.

Salvi GE, Persson GR, Heitz-Mayfield LJ, Frei M & Lang NP (2007) Adjunctive local antibiotic therapy in the treatment of peri-implantitis II: clinical and radiographic outcomes. *Clin Oral Implants Res* **18**: 281-285.

Schaudinn C, Carr G, Gorur A, Jaramillo D, Costerton JW & Webster P (2009) Imaging of endodontic biofilms by combined microscopy (FISH/cLSM - SEM). *J Microsc* 235: 124-127.

Schwarz F, Bieling K, Latz T, Nuesry E & Becker J (2006) Healing of intrabony periimplantitis defects following application of a nanocrystalline hydroxyapatite (Ostim) or a bovine-derived xenograft (Bio-Oss) in combination with a collagen membrane (Bio-Gide). A case series. *J Clin Periodontol* **33**: 491-499.

Schwarz F, Sculean A, Rothamel D, Schwenzer K, Georg T & Becker J (2005) Clinical evaluation of an Er:YAG laser for nonsurgical treatment of peri-implantitis: a pilot study. *Clin Oral Implants Res* **16**: 44-52.

Schwarz F, Sculean A, Bieling K, Ferrari D, Rothamel D & Becker J (2008) Twoyear clinical results following treatment of peri-implantitis lesions using a nanocrystalline hydroxyapatite or a natural bone mineral in combination with a collagen membrane. *J Clin Periodontol* **35**: 80-87.

Shani S, Freidman M & Steinberg D (2000) The anticariogenic effect of amine fluorides on *Streptococcus sobrinus* and glucosyltransferase in biofilms. *Caries Res* **34**: 260-267.

Shapiro S, Giertsen E & Guggenheim B (2002) An *in vitro* oral biofilm model for comparing the efficacy of antimicrobial mouthrinses. *Caries Res* **36**: 93-100.

Shen Y, Stojicic S & Haapasalo M (2010) Bacterial viability in starved and revitalized biofilms: comparison of viability staining and direct culture. *J Endod* **36**: 1820-1823.

80

Shen Y, Stojicic S & Haapasalo M (2011) Antimicrobial efficacy of chlorhexidine against bacteria in biofilms at different stages of development. *J Endod* **37**: 657-661.

Siddiqi A, Payne AG, De Silva RK & Duncan WJ (2011) Titanium allergy: could it affect dental implant integration? *Clin Oral Implants Res* **22**: 673-680.

Skucaite N, Peciuliene V, Vitkauskiene A & Machiulskiene V (2010) Susceptibility of endodontic pathogens to antibiotics in patients with symptomatic apical periodontitis. *J. Endod.* **36**: 1611-1616.

Socransky SS & Haffajee AD (2002) Dental biofilms:difficult therapeutic targets. *Periodontol 2000* **28**: 12-55.

Stewart PS & Franklin MJ (2008) Physiological heterogeneity in biofilms. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **6**: 199-210.

Stewart PS & Franklin MJ (2008) Physiological heterogeneity in biofilms. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* **6**: 199-210.

Stocks SM (2004) Mechanism and use of the commercially available viability stain, BacLight. *Cytometry A* **61**: 189-195.

Sul YT, Johansson CB, Petronis S, Krozer A, Jeong Y, Wennerberg A & Albrektsson T (2002) Characteristics of the surface oxides on turned and electrochemically oxidized pure titanium implants up to dielectric breakdown: the oxide thickness, micropore configurations, surface roughness, crystal structure and chemical composition. *Biomaterials* **23**: 491-501.

Suntharalingam P & Cvitkovitch DG (2005) Quorum sensing in streptococcal biofilm formation. *Trends Microbiol* **13**: 3-6.

Svensäter G, Welin J, Wilkins JC, Beighton D & Hamilton IR (2001) Protein expression by planktonic and biofilm cells of *Streptococcus mutans*. *FEMS Microbiol Lett.* **205**: 139-146.

Takahashi N, Ishihara K, Kato T & Okuda K (2007) Susceptibility of *Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans* to six antibiotics decreases as biofilm matures. *J Antimicrob Chemother* **59**: 59-65.

Thurnheer T, Gmur R & Guggenheim B (2004) Multiplex FISH analysis of a six-species bacterial biofilm. *J Microbiol Methods* **56**: 37-47.

Tirali RE, Bodur H & Ece G (2012) *In vitro* antimicrobial activity of sodium hypochlorite, chlorhexidine gluconate and octenidine dihydrochloride in elimination of microorganisms within dentinal tubules of primary and permanent teeth. *Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal* **17**: e517-522.

Trampuz A, Steinhuber A, Wittwer M & Leib SL (2007) Rapid diagnosis of experimental meningitis by bacterial heat production in cerebrospinal fluid. *BMC Infect Dis* **10**: 116.

van der Mei HC, White DJ, Atema-Smit J, van de Belt-Gritter E & Busscher HJ (2006) A method to study sustained antimicrobial activity of rinse and dentifrice components on biofilm viability *in vivo*. *J Clin Periodontol* **33**: 14-20.

van Winkelhoff AJ (2012) Antibiotics in the treatment of peri-implantitis. *Eur J Oral Implantol* **5**: Suppl:S43-50.

Verkaik MJ, Busscher HJ, Rustema-Abbing M, Slomp AM, Abbas F & van der Mei HC (2010) Oral biofilm models for mechanical plaque removal. *Clin Oral Investig* **14**: 403-409.

Vig Slenters T, Hauser-Gerspach I, Daniels AU & Fromm KM (2008) Silver coordination compounds as light-stable, nano-structured and anti-bacterial coatings for dental implant and restorative materials. *J Mater Chem* **18**: 5359-5362.

von Ah U, Wirz D & Daniels AU (2008) Rapid differentiation of methicillinsusceptible *Staphylococcus aureus* from methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* and MIC determinations by isothermal microcalorimetry. *J Clin Microbiol* **46**: 2083-2087.

Wadsö I (2002) Isothermal microcalorimetry in applied biology. *Thermochim Acta* **394**: 305-311.

Walter C, Kulik EM, Weiger R, Zitzmann NU & Waltimo T (2011) Additive or synergistic antimicrobial effects of amoxicillin and metronidazole on whole plaque samples: a preliminary report. *J. Int. Acad. Periodontol.* **13**: 11-16.

Wecke J, Kersten T, Madela K, Moter A, Göbel UB, Friedmann A & Bernimoulin JP (2000) A novel technique for monitoring the development of bacterial biofilms in human periodontal pockets. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* **191**: 95-101.

Weiger R, Decker EM, Krastl G & Brecx M (1999) Deposition and retention of vital and dead *Streptococcus sanguinis* cells on glass surfaces in a flow-chamber system. *Arch Oral Biol* **44**: 621-628.

Welin J, Wilkins JC, Beighton D & Svensäter G (2004) Protein expression by *Streptococcus mutans* during initial stage of biofilm formation. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **70**: 3736-3741.

Xu P, Alves JM, Kitten T, Brown A, Chen Z, Ozaki LS, Manque P, Ge X, Serrano MG, Puiu D, Hendricks S, Wang Y, Chaplin MD, Akan D, Paik S, Peterson DL, Macrina FL, Buck GA. (2007) Genome of the opportunistic pathogen *Streptococcus sanguinis*. *J Bacteriol* **189**: 3166-3175.

Zaura-Arite E, van Marle J & ten Cate JM (2001) Confocal microscopy study of undisturbed and chlorhexidine-treated dental biofilm. *J Dent Res* **80**: 1436-1440.

Zhang Y, Lei Y, Nobbs A, Khammanivong A & Herzberg M (2005) Inactivation of *Streptococcus gordonii* SspAB alters expression of multiple adhesin genes. *Infect Immun* **73**: 3351-3357.

Zitzmann NU & Berglundh T (2008) Definition and prevalences of peri-implant diseases. *Clin Oral Implants Res* **35**: 281-286.

Zwietering MH, Jongenburger I, Rombouts FM & van't Riet K (1990) Modeling of the bacterial growth curve. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **56**: 1875-1881.

Curriculum vitae

Name and address:	Monika Astašov-Frauenhoffer
	Sonnenbergstrasse 6
	79639 Grenzach-Wyhlen
	Germany
Date and place of birth:	01.12.1983, Tallinn, Estonia
Phone:	+49 171 4538542 (mobile)
	+49 762 49847414 (home)
e-mail:	monika.astasov@gmail.com
Nationality:	Estonian
Marital status:	married, no children

EDUCATION

2008 - 2013	University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland
	PhD in Biomedical Engineering
	Title of thesis: "Infection and disinfection of transmucosal implant surfaces <i>in vitro</i> "
2005 - 2007	Tallinn University of Technology, Tallinn, Estonia
	MSc in Natural Sciences, Gene Technology
	Title of thesis: "Potato virus A as a model system plant virus coat protein based vaccine design"
2002 – 2005 Tal BS	Tallinn University of Technology, Tallinn, Estonia
	BSc in Natural Sciences, Gene Technology
	Title of thesis: "Detection of specific markers for rheumatoid arthritis diagnostics"

WORK EXPERIENCE

03.2008 - 06.2013 PhD student

Prof. Dr. Tuomas Waltimo & Prof Dr. Roland Weiger, Clinic

for Preventive Dentistry and Oral Microbiology & Clinic for

Periodontology, Endodontology and Cariology, University of

Basel, Basel, Switzerland

09.2005 – 06.2007 Research Assistant

Prof. Dr. L. Järvekülg, Department Molecular Diagnostics,

Tallinn University of Technology, Tallinn, Estonia

East Tallinn Central Hospital Central Laboratory, Tallinn, Estonia

PUBLICATIONS

- Astasov-Frauenhoffer M, Braissant O, Hauser-Gerspach I, Daniels AU, Wirz D, Weiger R, Waltimo T. "Quantification of vital adherent *Streptococcus sanguinis* cells on protein-coated titanium after disinfectant treatment", J Mater Sci Mater Med. 2011 Sep;22(9):2045-51.
- Astasov-Frauenhoffer M, Braissant O, Hauser-Gerspach I, Daniels AU, Weiger R, Waltimo T. "Isothermal microcalorimetry provides new insights into biofilm variability and dynamics", *FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 2012; 337:31–* 7.
- Astasov-Frauenhoffer, M., Braissant, O., Hauser-Gerspach, I., Weiger, R., Walter, C., Nitzmann, N.U., Waltimo T. "Microcalorimetric determination of the effects of amoxicillin, metronidazole and their combination on an *in vitro* biofilm", *Accepted for publication in J Periodontol*.
- 4) Gerber L.C., Mohn D., Fortunato G., Astasov-Frauenhoffer M., Imfeld T., Waltimo T., Zehnder M., Stark W.J. "Incorporation of reactive silvertricalcium phosphate nanoparticles into polyamide 6 allows preparation of self-disinfecting fibers", *Polym Eng Sci. 2011*, 51(1):71-7.

PRESENTATIONS

- 03. 2009 M. Astasov-Frauenhoffer, I. Hauser-Gerspach, N. U. Zitzmann & T. Waltimo. "Susceptibility of adherent *Streptococcus sanguinis* to antibiotic agents applied against peri-implantitis". German Association for General and Applied Microbiology conference "How dead is dead? Survival and final inactivation of microorganisms", Bochum, Germany (Poster presentation)
- 06. 2010 M. Astasov-Frauenhoffer, O. Braissant, I. Hauser-Gerspach, R.

Weiger & T. Waltimo. "Characterization of a three-species biofilm *in vitro*" Annual meeting of Swiss Society for Microbiology, Zurich, Switzerland (Poster presentation)

05. 2011 M. Astasov-Frauenhoffer, O. Braissant, I. Hauser-Gerspach, A. U. Daniels, R.Weiger & T. Waltimo. "Quantification of vital adherent *Streptococcus sanguinis* cells on protein-coated titanium after disinfectant treatment"
European Oral Microbiology Workshop, Zeist, The Netherlands (Oral presentation)

- 06. 2011 M. Astasov-Frauenhoffer, O. Braissant, I. Hauser-Gerspach, A. U. Daniels, R. Weiger & T. Waltimo. "Characterization of a three-species biofilm *in vitro*" eCM XII: Implant Infection Meeting, Davos, Switzerland (Oral presentation)
- 06. 2012 M. Astasov-Frauenhoffer, O. Braissant, I. Hauser-Gerspach, R. Weiger & T. Waltimo. "Optimized susceptibility testing of adherent bacterial cells"
 Annual meeting of Swiss Society for Microbiology, St. Gallen, Switzerland (Poster presentation)